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AN ENIGMA

by Mary McGreevy

The one event in Broward County history that is probably best
known to the nation as a whole is the disappearance of fourteen service-
men on training flight 19 from the Fort Lauderdale Naval Air Station
on December 5, 1945. The lost flight and the massive search which fol-
lowed triggered an avalanche of speculation as to the cause of the mis-
hap and the fate of the lost fliers, and emerged as key elements in the
legend of the "Devil’s Triangle.”

In this article, author Mary McGreevy summarizes a wide range of
accounts of the flight's disappearance, from contemporary newspaper
articles and naval reports to recent studies and conjectures. Her analy-
sis places the event in its historical context, discusses probable causes of
the tragedy, and recounts its enduring legacy, both as history and leg-
end.

Dr. McGreevy, a Fort Lauderdale resident, is the founder and ex-
ecutive director of the Dora Achenbach McGreevy Poetry Foundation,
Inc., and a member of the Broward County Women's History Coalition,
the Naval Air Station Fort Lauderdale Historical Association, and sev-
eral other civic organizations. She has also published several books of
poetry, as well as historical articles in previous issues of Broward Legacy.

The “Bermuda Triangle” or
“Devil’s Triangle” is a mythical geo-
graphic area located off the south-
eastern coast of the United States. It
is noted for an apparent high inci-
dence of unexplained losses of ships,
boats, and aircraft.

The United States Coast Guard
does not recognize the existence of
the Bermuda Triangle as a geo-
graphic area of specific hazard to
ships or planes. There has been noth-

ing discovered in a review of the
many aircraft and vessel losses in the
“triangle” area over the years that
would indicate that the casualties
were the result of anything other
than physical causes. No extraordi-
nary factors have been identified.!
During the last century and a
half, however, more than forty ships
and twenty airplanes have carried
almost 1,000 human beings into this
misty limbo of the lost. Until the late

1940s, each incident was considered
merely a baffling individual event.
But then the pattern became obvicus
to a number of observers: a remark-
able number of vessels were vanish-
ing under similar circumstances in a
relatively small patch of ocean.?
Ever since the first seamen set
sail thousands of years ago, the vast
and capricious oceans have been the
source of myth and mystery. When
Christopher Columbus first reached
the Sargasso Sea, midway across the
Atlantic, his superstitious crew
feared its thick yellow, brown, and
green seaweed would trap them for-
ever. Far more contemporary is the
fear of the Bermuda Triangle, an
amorphous area located somewhere
southwest of Bermuda. In recent de-
cades, scientists, journalists, and stu-
dents of supernatural phenomena
have speculated on the causes of its
high rate of unexplained disappear-
ances. Author Ivan T. Sanderson pos-
tulated that the Bermuda Triangle
is one of a dozen areas called “vile
vortices.” Another infamous one is
the “Devil’s Sea” off the coast of Ja-
pan, where little-understood forces
are said to cause ships to vanish with-
out a trace. Even airplane pilots fly-
ing over these areas have reported
malfunctioning gyros, dead radios,
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The legend of the "Bermuda Triangle" or '"Devil's Triangle," pictured here,
was bolstered by the disappearance of Flight 19 from Fort Lauderdale.

visual anomalies, and inexplicable
time warps.?

On Wednesday, December 5,
1945, the Fort Lauderdale Daily
News warned that a sharp drop in
temperature to about thirty-eight de-
grees might occur by 7:00 a.m. Thurs-
day morning. The weather in the
state was unsettled, with a freak
squall reported in the south, while
“snow flurries speckled” the north.*

The temperatures for the day in-
cluded a low of sixty degrees and a
high of seventy-two degrees in Mi-
ami with a rainfall of .34 inches, and
about the same temperatures and
rainfall in West Palm Beach. No
reading was given for Fort Lauder-
dale on that date.> Whether or not
weather was a determining factor in
the occurrence that brought forth the
large, black-lettered headlines on the

following day is not at first clear.
“FOURTEEN NAS AIRMEN
MISSING: Search Launched For
Lost Planes” announced the Daily
News headlines on Thursday, Decem-
ber 6, the day after the planes disap-
peared. Staff writer Luke Warren
reported that “Commander Howard
S. Roberts, NAS Executive Officer,
advanced the theory that the [miss-
ing] flight of five bombers was blown
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off the course by strong winds, and
[had] exhausted a five-hour fuel sup-
ply over the Ocean off the East
Coast.”

Missing Flight 19 had taken off
from United States Naval Air Station
(NAS) Fort Lauderdale at about 2:10
on the afternoon of December 5. It
consisted of five TBM Avenger tor-
pedo bombers on an authorized, ad-
vanced navigational training flight.
The prospective course was a trian-
gular one over the North Atlantic in-
volving the following navigational
problem:

1. Depart NAS  Fort
Lauderdale, 23° 30’ N. and 80°
7' W. and fly 091° course distance
fifty-six miles to Hens and
Chickens Shoals to conduct low-
level bombing, and after
bombing, continue on course 091°
for sixty-seven miles.

2. Fly course 346° for
seventy-three miles.

3. Fly course 241° for a
distance of 120 miles, returning
to NAS Fort Lauderdale.”

Estimated time of arrival was
approximately 4:10 p.m. — a two-
hour mission.

A triangular course is the easi-
est for either an airplane to fly on a
training mission or for a sailboat to
race. It is also the most frequently
used course — three legs, two turns,
and home — and considered hard to
fail. Yet this Flight 19, under the ex-
perienced command of flight instruc-
tor and leader Lieutenant Charles C.
Taylor, along with experienced and
advanced student pilots, made a spec-
tacular failure, one that would not be
forgotten in the subsequent years.
Compared to the simplicity of the
mission, the complete disappearance
of all five planes without a trace and
without a known cause was so unbe-
lievable that an aura of mystery and
incompleteness shrouded the inci-
dent. Adding to the incredulity of the
situation was the disappearance of
one of the “rescue” planes, a Martin
Mariner, one of two search planes
that left Banana River Naval Air Sta-
tion. During the extensive search
and for nearly fifty years afterwards,
no trace of debris or certain report of
the fates of these six aircraft has been

found or determined.

The mysterious disappearance
of these six planes has fired the fuels
of legend, myth, and superstition,
and become a major element in the
legend of the Bermuda Triangle. Sea
captains, pilots, and crews are known
for their superstitions and awe of the
mysterious, though to a lesser extent
in the age of flight recorders, more
precise weather forecasting, and in-
formation on airstrip conditions.

The mystery soon captured the
attention of the public as well, and
was heightened by various accounts,
some true and others more imagina-
tive, of surrounding events. Accord-
ing to Lawrence Kusche, who has
written much about the incident, one

reason for the legend about the inci-
dent of the disappearing planes is
that the U.S. Navy issued orders for
all vessels crossing the area to con-
tinue to watch for debris and survi-
vors, and that “the order is still in
effect to this very day!” As Kusche
points out, this statement almost
makes it seem as if the Navy still has
hopes of finding something after all
these years. Such is not the case. As
standard procedure, part of the an-
nouncement of the termination of
every search includes the phrase that
travelers in the area should remain
on the alert. The statement is, there-
fore, itself part of the order cancel-
ling the search.®

Another aspect of strangeness
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Aerial view of Naval Air Station Fort Lauderdale,
looking northeast (courtesy of John Evans).

surrounding the loss of the planes
and their crews was the feeling of
foreboding felt by crewmen before the
take-off. Two of the men had asked
to be relieved of the duty that after-
noon; one of these was Lieutenant
Taylor himself. According to Lieuten-
ant Arthur A. Curtis, aviation train-
ing officer at NAS Fort Lauderdale,
Taylor had asked him at about 1:15
p.m. to find a replacement for the 2:00
p.m. training exercise. Curtis replied
that there was no replacement pilot
available. Thus Taylor lost his life
on a flight he had wanted to avoid.
Curtis also reported nothing unusual
about Taylor’s behavior; he had not
been ill or inebriated, for example. It
has been surmised that some appre-
hension or anxiety may have dictated
his last-minute request. Posterity
can only guess what was in his mind.®

Not so was the case of the sec-
ond man, Marine Corporal Allen
Kosner. When it came time for a pre-
flight briefing, Kosner managed to
get himself excused easily because he
had completed his required flight
time for that month. When he vis-
ited the site of the NAS base some
twenty-four years later, he said, “For
some strange reason that I can’t ex-
plain, I decided not to go on the flight
that day.”® Kosner was one of the
crew of two men assigned to each of

the five planes, and his plane, the
Avenger captained by Marine Lieu-
tenant Forrest Gerber, was missing
one crew member. The number of
men in Flight 19 then numbered four-
teen.

On Thursday, December 6,
1945, the lead article in the Fort Lau-
derdale Daily News reported that
“hundreds” of air and surface craft
were involved in the search for the
missing planes. Another headline on
the same page announced, “Units of
Navy, Army, Coast Guard Scour Sea
for Lost NAS Aircraft.” The search
was directed from Coast Guard Head-
quarters of the Seventh Naval Dis-
trict in Miami. Was this the greatest
air and sea search in this area’s his-
tory, as the article reported? The
search extended approximately 200
to 300 miles east into the Atlantic and
more than 400 miles from north to
south. In a letter of November 18,
1960, Lieutenant Commander
Edmund L. Castillo, Department of
the Navy, wrote that the search was
“extensive;” however, the exact deter-
mination of its size could not be made:

The search area was in the
area adjacent to 28° 59° N
latitude and 80° 25’ W longitude.
The search is described as one of
the most thorough and extensive

searches ever instigated; however,
the records available here make
no mention as to the exact
number of square miles searched,
the number of air sorties flown
or the total number of hours
searched . . . The cause of the
accident remains unknown . . .12

By Friday, December 14, 1945,
the search had been abandoned and
memorial services were announced
for the following Thursday in the
Naval Air Station auditorium. Fa-
ther John J. O’Looney of St.
Anthony’s Catholic Church in Fort
Lauderdale and Chaplain Courage of
the Naval Air Station officiated.
Fourteen American flags symbolizing
the loss of fourteen men from the base
decorated the room, the NAS flag was
flown at half mast, and all work at
the field was halted during the ser-
vices.!?

From the newspapers for the
rest of December 1945, it is clear that
many plans were made for a festive,
post-war Christmas. But the city of
Fort Lauderdale always remained
close to the base, and the incident
cast a pall over plans for a joyful holi-
day season. Personnel at the base
were especially affected by the loss
of so many of their members, and
added to this cause of dismay was fear
of crowded travel conditions which
threatened to detain servicemen who
wished to travel north for Christmas.
The Fort Lauderdale Daily News at-
tempted to assist by asking civilians
traveling north to offer rides to men
from the base. In addition, the
newspaper’s lead Christmas editorial
cajoled readers to forget war and plan
a good time with families who had
fathers returning from military ser-
vice. Not all servicemen were home,
however. Some of the men at the Fort
Lauderdale Naval Air Station had not
been home for over three years, and
many families had members missing
who would never return. There were
reasons not to forget the war and its
allied tragedies such as the missing
Flight 19. The bereaved sought to
celebrate the honors and distinctions
of the men who were gone, and to
preserve their memories for the fu-
ture.

Such a positive remembrance
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Monument to the missing men of
Flight 19 at Fort Lauderdale-Hol-
lywood International Airport, on
the site of the Naval Air Station
(photo by Mary McGreevy).

certainly came to pass for the men
lost on Flight 19, largely as a result
of the efforts of Allan McElhiney,
president of the NAS Fort Lauderdale
Historical Association. “We try to re-
member as many as we can,” he is
quoted as saying in a newspaper ar-
ticle reporting a December 1992 cer-
emony at the Fort Lauderdale-Hol-
lywood International Airport, former
site of the Naval Air Station. The
occasion was the tenth ceremony
honoring the fourteen vanished fli-
ers, now referred to as “The Lost Pa-
trol.”* At that time, forty-seven years
after the event, a memorial was dedi-
cated to the missing men, and plans
were made to honor them on Decem-
ber 5 each year. The 1993 ceremony
included a military parade and honor
guard and addresses by naval offic-
ers and civilian dignitaries.'®

For many people, however, the
flight is remembered chiefly for the
mystery which surrounds it. Many
books and articles have been written
about the tragedy, but little addi-
tional factual information has been

added. In fact, all that is really
known comes from the transcripts of
the planes’ radio transmissions, and
even these are not clear and lead to
conjecture and controversy. The
Navy’s investigation of the incident
took several months and resulted in
a 400-page report, which did not place
all radio transmissions together in a
meaningful order, according to Larry
Kusche, who tries to do this in his
book The Bermuda Triangle Mystery
Solved.'® There is also a brief report
on the incident available from the In-
formation Service of the United
States Navy. Putting these two
sources of information together, we
find a probable sequence of events.
The Navy report states:

A radio message intercepted
at about 4:00 pm was the first
indication that Flight 19 was lost.
This message, believed to be
between the leader on Flight 19
and another pilot in the same
flight, indicated that the planes
were lost and that they were
experiencing malfunction of their
compasses.’”’

This radio message was trans-
mitted on radio frequency 4805
around 3:40 p.m. to Captain Edward
J. Powers, Jr., a Marine student pi-
lot who was undergoing advanced
navigation training. Powers was in
plane FT-36, and Taylor was calling
from FT-28. According to the testi-
mony of Lieutenant Robert F. Cox, a
flight instructor at NAS Fort Lauder-
dale who was flying south of the field
at the time, “The party calling asked
‘Powers’ what his compass read a
number of times, and finally said, ‘I
don’t know where we are. We must
have got lost after that last turn.’ ™8

Cox reported that at approxi-
mately 3:45 p.m., he called Operation
Radio Fort Lauderdale and notified
them that either a boat or some
planes were lost. He then tried to
contact Taylor on the radio:

I said, ‘MT28, this is FT'74,
what is your trouble?” MT-28
came back, ‘Both my compasses
are out and I am trying to find
Fort Lauderdale, Florida. I am
over land, but it’s broken. I'm
sure I'm in the Keys, but I don’t
know how far down and I don’t

know how to get to Fort
Lauderdale.’

I said, ‘MT-28, this is FT-74,
put the sun on your port wing if
you are in the Keys and fly up the
coast until you get to Miami, then
Fort Lauderdale is 20 miles
further, your first port after
Miami. The air station is directly
on your left from the port ...

I then received a call from
Fort Lauderdale asking if it was
FT 28 or MT-28, and after calling
MT-28 again I learned that it was
FT'28 and relayed this message
to Fort Lauderdale.’®

There was no way for FT-28 to
be in the Keys. Taylor had completed
the first leg of his flight, and was on
the second when he felt that the
squadron was off-course and took
over to fly to the correct position, but
then discovered that he did not know
where he was, as both his compasses
were not working. There was not
enough time for him to have reached
the Keys by 3:45 p.m. Taylor in FT-
28 requested Cox to ask Miami to pick
up the flight on their radar, and af-

Lieutenant Robert F. Cox
(U.S. Navy photograph).
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ter picking them up, radio back their
location. Cox asked Taylor to turn
on his ZBX gear, which tells which
direction to return to base. Taylor
did not comment on this instruction,
and Cox heard his radio transmission
beginning to fade. When he could no
longer reach Taylor, Cox, who was
about forty miles below Fort Lauder-
dale, returned to base. At the subse-
quent investigation, he told Navy of-
ficials that he now believed that Tay-
lor was probably over Bimini or other
islands in the Bahamas when he ra-
dioed, and that the growing faintness
of the transmissions indicated he was
possibly traveling north—farther and
farther from Fort Lauderdale, Miami,
or the Keys.

When the Navy investigators
questioned Cox as to the condition of
the weather, he replied, “The sea was
very rough. It was covered with
white caps and long white streamers.
The visibility was very good in all
directions, except directly west,”

Port Everglades radio operators
were able to communicate with Tay-
lor, who informed them at about 4:45
p.m., “We are heading 030° [north-
northeast] for 45 minutes, then we
will fly north to make sure we are
not over the Gulf of Mexico.”” Port
Everglades then asked Dinner Key
seaplane base at Miami if they could
get a bearing on Taylor in FT-28.
Their reply was in the negative.

Lieutenant Commander Donald
J. Poole, flight officer at NAS Fort
Lauderdale, learned of the lost flight
at about 4:30 p.m. He believed at the
time that Taylor was indeed over the
Keys, but had not gone beyond the
first leg of the navigation exercise.
Poole ordered Port Everglades, which
was still in contact with Taylor, to
instruct FT-28 to fly west, toward the
sun. He heard the order given and
repeated by Port Everglades, but
there was no answer. At about 5:00
p.m., he heard two unidentified stu-
dents remarking that if they could
just fly west they would probably get
home. They did not break with Tay-
lor, however, and fly west on their
own.

Shortly after 5:00 p.m., Port Ev-
erglades heard from Taylor again,
ordering his men to “Change course
to 090° [east] for ten minutes.” Fi-

GRUMMAN

TBF/ TEM

PAUL BRADLLY S

Diagram of the TBF/TBM Avenger torpedo bomber
(drawing by Paul Bradley).

nally, at about 5:15, Taylor reported
to Port Everglades that Flight 19 was
heading west. Then FT-28 told all
the planes to join up and continue in
formation. If any one plane had to
ditch, he instructed, they would all
ditch together. After sunset at ap-
proximately 5:30 p.m., Lieutenant
Commander Poole instructed all sta-
tions from Key West to Melbourne to
turn on their field lights, beacons,
and search lights. Boca Raton Army
Air Base reported nothing on their
short-range radar screen. However,
the ComGulf Sea Frontier Evaluation
Center in Miami, using directional
bearings sent by stations from New
Jersey to Texas, relayed an approxi-
mate position for FT-28 — “within a

100-mile radius of 29° 15' North and
79° 00' West” — an area east of New
Smyrna Beach, Florida, and north of
the Bahamas.

According to the testimony of
Commander Claude C. Newman,
who was in charge of Port Ever-
glades, the port had been out of com-
munication with FT-28 and the other
planes when they received informa-
tion on the approximate fix. There
was no attempt on their (or anyone
else’s) part to relay the fix informa-
tion to the airplanes or transmit it
blindly (without contact from the air-
craft). The last transmission of the
flight recorded was from Ensign Jo-
seph T. Bossi, a student pilot, who
was trying to call Taylor, but received
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no answer to his FT-3 calling FT-28.
Then the radio operator at the Mi-
ami station tried, to no avail, to reach
Taylor, “FT-28, this is NSO [Miami],
NSO, NSO. How do you read me,
over.” This call was repeated several
times, but stopped at approximately
8:00, the time at which the Aveng-
ers’ fuel supply would definitely have
run out.?

Over the years the controversy
regarding the cause of the disappear-
ance of the planes centered on three
principal areas: weather or special
forces not completely understood, pi-
lot error by Taylor as the officer in
charge of the flight, and mechanical
problems with the Avenger or with
its equipment. The first of these prob-
lem areas was favored by Charles
Berlitz, who wrote the famous book
The Bermuda Triangle and produced
the ensuing movie. Berlitz wrote
that:

. . . Stresses exist in the
atmosphere that can be roughly
compared with tidal waves,
especially if a plane heads into
them at a high rate of speed . . .
this “wind shear” factor is an
important element in air losses
and in its intensified form of CAT
(clear air turbulence) it can be
compared to the seiche
(underwater landslide) waves
that unexpectedly occur in an
otherwise calm sea.?

Berlitz also reports that with
“electromagnetism and the malfunc-
tion of instruments reoccurring in the
Triangle mysteries,” there may be a
special character of the area at lon-
gitude 80° West, where true north
and magnetic north have no
demarkation of variance. He re-
ported that there have been theories
of antigravity warps where gravity
and normal magnetism do not func-
tion in familiar ways.?* According to
Ivan Sanderson, the Bermuda Tri-
angle and some other areas have
unusual vortices or places where the
forces of nature are variant to usual
expectancies and may be a factor in
air and sea loss.?

Fort Lauderdale writer Richard
Winer, who wrote the book The
Devil’s Triangle, believes that unusu-
ally strong winds were the primary

cause of the disappearance of Flight
19:

Just before they were due to
have sighted land, by their
reckoning, they encountered a
cold front containing a heavy
cloud cover and strong
northeasterly winds. The winds,
unbeknown to the fliers, had set
them at some distance to the
south of their course and
considerably reduced their speed
over the surface. As they passed
through the front and emerged
from the clouds, they saw land
pussing behind them and a great
expanse of shallow water
extending to the west as far as the
eye could see. Assuming they
had just passed over the
southern tip of the Florida
mainland . . %

Other students of the mystery
have considered this scenario highly
unlikely because the final approxi-
mate position for the flight was so far
north — 29° 15' North and 79° 00'
West — east of New Smyrna Beach
and north of the Bahamas. Also,
since he had begun the second leg of
the “problem,” there appears to have
been no time for Taylor to have been
at the southern tip of the peninsula
or over the Keys. Even if he had
made a southwest turn for the sec-
ond leg of the triangle when he
should have made a northeast turn,
it is doubtful that strong northeast
winds could have blown him so far
south.

Although the weather report in-
dicated northeast winds, the prevail-
ing winds in the area when it is not
the season of trades, winds can
change direction easily, especially in
the case of squalls or sudden storms.
This phenomena may also have con-
fused Taylor. The strong trade winds
blow in January, February, March,
and April, and then become weaker
and more uncertain. The skies are
not so clear and beautiful as they are
in the later months of summer, when
hurricanes “cook up” off the coast of
Africa and often blow toward Florida
from the Lesser and Greater Antilles
in the Caribbean. As in the hurri-
cane season, December is a month of
unsettled winds and squalls or

storms. In any sudden squall with
strong winds, Flight 19 could have
been blown in any direction. To as-
sume that the prevailing northeast
winds necessarily blew them to the
south would therefore be an error.
Neither author Winer nor Flight Of-
ficer Poole relied solely on this as-
sumption, but they did take Taylor
at his word and believed that he was
flying where he said he was — far
south of his course, either over the
Keys or at the southmost tip of the
Florida mainland. The mistake —
and, as it proved, a disastrous one —
was apparently made by Taylor, who
thought he had taken a wrong turn
and believed that he was far to the
south of his navigation-problem
course. The malfunction of his com-
passes was probably the greatest
cause of Taylor’s confusion. The er-
ror in reporting his position was mag-
nified when Poole, flight officer at the
base, believed the flight to be to the
south and did not send up a ready
plane because he had no definite con-
firmation of the off-course position.
Poole’s decision was also influenced
by reports of bad weather.

If, in fact, Flight 19 was on
course and over the Bahamas when
Taylor reported they were lost and
possibly in the Keys, the rescue ef-
fort was a lost cause almost from its
inception. As time elapsed, the small
aviation formation would have gone
much too far north to have enough
fuel supply to return to base, and
eventually would not have enough
even to make a landfall anywhere on
the Florida coast on a westerly re-
turn.

The Navy Board of Investiga-
tion’s report was received in the
Judge Advocate General’s Office in
Washington, D.C., after the first of
the new year, 1946. It held “the loss
of the fourteen men in Flight 19 and,
indirectly, the thirteen men in the
search plane . . . [attributable] to er-
rors on the part of Lieutenant
Charles Carroll Taylor, flight instruc-
tor, ex-combat pilot, U.S. Naval Re-
serve. It had found the “primary rea-
son for the disappearance of Flight
19 was the confusion of the flight
leader as to his location, his failure
to take into account the strong winds
which apparently carried him farther
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Lieutenant Charles Carroll Tay-
lor (from The Disappearance of
Flight 19 by Larry Kusche, repro-
duced with the permission of the
author).

View of NAS Fort Lauderdale, 1945, with hangar
and tower at center left. Lieutenant Taylor's plane,

east than he realized, and his failure
to utilize radio aids which were avail-
able to him.”® Thus, much of the
controversy surrounding Flight 19
has focused on the background, per-
sonality, and actions of Charles C.
Taylor.

In 1947, after extensive efforts
on the part of Taylor’s mother,
Katherine Taylor, and her sister,
Mary Carroll, who lived with her, the
letters, papers, and reports of the
incident were turned over to a young
lawyer, who was also an ex-Navy pi-
lot and a friend of the late Charles
Taylor. This lawyer, William L. P.
Burke, had high hopes for the Board
of Corrections of Naval Records to
change the outcome of the investiga-
tion. After appearing before the
board and presenting his evidence in
October 1947, he was granted the ex-
oneration he had requested for Tay-
lor. The board concluded that the
disappearance of Flight 19 had oc-
curred “for causes or reasons un-
known.”%

FT-28, is marked with an arrow. The number "28"

Besides the malfunction of the
compasses and a possible encounter
with strong winds or a sudden storm,
there may have been another cause
for Lieutenant Taylor’s confusion
about his position. Jeff Warren, pub-
lisher of Moonscope, a newsletter
about the moon, believes that the
extreme southern-appearing position
of the sun and moon that occurred in
December 1945 may have “fooled” the
doomed pilot and his fellow airmen.
Due to the low azimuths of both, the
sun and the moon would have ap-
peared to be farther and farther
south as the day wore on, further
confusing navigation unless one un-
derstood this phenomenon.?® In a
discussion panel presented by the
Fort Lauderdale Historical Society on
December 6, 1993, Warren reminded
his audience that Taylor had no clear
landmarks or easily identifiable bady
of land to reassure him about his po-
sition. Furthermore, anyone who has
flown over the Bahamas has noticed
the many shallows, sandbars, and

appears upside-down since the plane’s wings are
folded (courtesy of John Evans).
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small bodies of land that are impos-
sible to identify unless one is ex-
tremely familiar with the territory or
is over a large, easily-identifiable
land mass such as Andros or New
Providence island.?°

This was not the case with Lieu-
tenant Taylor, who had recently been
sent to Fort Lauderdale from Miami,
where he had been stationed approxi-
mately eight months. In 1942 and
1943, however, Taylor had served al-
most one year in the Keys, from
which he had written his mother that
he had:

. a lot of practice in
navigation. As I am considered
a senior pilot in the squadron, I
always lead a junior pilot on
these convoys. I do all the
navigation, and he just follows
me around. As yet, I have never
gotten lost.’!

During his stay in the Keys,
Taylor accumulated roughly 1,000
hours of flight time, becoming very
familiar with that area. This fact has
led inquirers to speculate whether, on
December 5, 1945, he found it more
comforting to believe that a naviga-
tional error had taken him back to
the Keys instead of over the unknown
seas and shallow waters of the Ba-
hamas.?? In his confusion, had he mo-
mentarily forgotten about Fort Lau-
derdale when he gave Lieutenant
Cox the call letters for Miami, MT,
rather than FT ? Human beings are
creatures of habit, and familiar sur-
roundings reassure us; under the
pressure of the situation such a men-
tal slip would have been easy for Tay-
lor, whose most recent experience had
been in Miami and who had consid-
erable experience in the Keys.

Speculations aside, most of
Taylor’s experience had been in the
Pacific, first aboard the carrier
Hancock, where he had received con-
siderable training, and later based at
Guam.*® He acquired considerable
combat experience, and has been de-
scribed as a fearless pilot and a com-
petent navigator, although a review
of his service discloses that he was
forced to ditch his aircraft three
times—twice because he was lost.
Had he been a regular at NAS Fort
Lauderdale from the beginning of his

war experience, Taylor might have
become more familiar with the
region’s weather and wind condi-
tions, and he might have learned
about the anomaly of the sun posi-
tion in December or even surmised
the tandem situation with the small
sliver of moon that month. As it was,
the truth could have confused him.
As moon authority Warren stated, “If
the Avenger pilots used the sun or the
moon to navigate, in most scenarios
they never would have reached
land.”*

Whatever the cause of Taylor’s
confusion, he must have foreseen a
potential “ditch” — putting down his
aircraft and probably those of the four
other pilots and their crews. He
would not know where he was ditch-
ing or what coordinates to radio back

to base. The fact that he had already
been a “three-time loser,” having
ditched planes three times in the
Pacific, may have created a factor of
anxiety in addition to the confusion
and terror about his location. The
burden of this responsibility and de-
cision for fourteen men may have
been almost impossible to face, land-
ing a heavy aircraft in troubled and
stormy waters, far from land, far
from any familiar place, as was prob-
ably the case sometime after 8:00 on
the night of December 5, 1945.
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BLOOMS QVER THE SUNSHINE STATE:

THE FORT LAUDERDALE DAILY NEWS
AND THE SENATE ELECTION OF 1950

INTRODUCTION

In the year 1950, Florida was
the center of national attention. Five
years previously, World War II had,
as a result of tremendous effort and
sacrifice, been brought to a success-
ful conclusion. During the interven-
ing years, the American, British, and
Russian wartime alliance had
crumbled, and the Cold War was in
full force. That was the situation in
May 1950, when Senator Claude Pep-
per of Florida, a staunch New Dealer
and ardent pre-World War II inter-
ventionist who had earned a national
reputation as one of the leading lib-
eral spokesmen in the country, faced
a strong challenge for reelection to
the post that he had held since 1936.!

In 1950, despite post-war popu-
lation shifts, Florida was still part of
the Democratic Solid South, as it had
been since Reconstruction. Holding
elective office depended upon success
in the Democratic primary. Until
1937, payment of a poll tax had been
a prerequisite for voting. Until 1944,
Florida’s Democratic party was a

by Donald G. Lester

white person’s party, with participa-
tion in primary elections limited to
members of the Caucasian race. In
that year, no Negroes were registered
to vote in most Florida counties. A

few were registered in some urban
counties, almost all as Republicans,
and they generally voted Republican
in the general elections. In 1944, the
United States Supreme Court, by an

As author Donald G. Lester points out, the 1950 United States
Senate election was probably the most memorable political campaign
in Florida history. It is remembered not only for its result — which
ended Claude Pepper’s fourteen year stay in the Senate, but also for
its intensity and bitterness. Pepper’s support for federal civil rights
policies made him unpopular with many Floridians, and his earlier
endorsements of the Soviet Union inspired charges that he was pro-
Communist. These accusations were certainly a major issue in Broward
County, where Pepper’s old adversary, Robert H. Gore, continually
attacked the senator through the pages of the Fort Lauderdale Daily
News.

This article continues Mr. Lester's series on Broward County po-
litical history and the influence of Gore and the Daily News. Mr. Lester
is Assistant Professor Emeritus of History and Political Science at
Middle Georgia College. He moved to Fort Lauderdale with his family
in 1925, graduated from Fort Lauderdale High School and the Uni-
versity of Miami, and currently resides in Glades County. He was the
recipient of the Broward County Historical Commission’s Cooper C.
Kirk Memorial Award in 1992, and was named the 1993 Distinguished
Lecturer at Middle Georgia College.
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eight to one decision in a Texas case,
declared the white primary unconsti-
tutional. Not a single major south-
ern politician supported that deci-
sion. When it came to the question
of white supremacy, no major south-
ern politician, liberal, conservative,
or moderate, raised a dissenting
voice.?

According to Democratic pri-
mary rules set up in 1901, a majority
of votes was required for election. In
case no candidate received a major-
ity of the first primary vote, a run-
off election was held between the two
top contenders. The reason for this
rule, which predominated in the
southern states, though not in the
nation as a whole, was that in the
South the Democratic nomination
was tantamount to election. The
Democratic primary therefore at-
tracted a multitude of candidates,
and it was deemed improper to award
the nomination, and therefore the
election, to the top vote-getter if a
majority of voters had voted against
him.?

Senator Claude D. Pepper

POLITICAL BACKGROUND

The decade of the 1930s had wit-
nessed a leftward drift in Florida poli-
tics, with programs to the left of the
New Deal receiving widespread sup-
port in the state.* Huey Long’s
“Share OQur Wealth” proposal was
popular among many Floridians. Of
much greater impact was the intro-
duction of the Townsend Plan and the
sudden emergence of Townsend
Clubs throughout Florida. The
Townsend Plan was an old age pen-
sion proposal advocated by Dr.
Francis E. Townsend of Long Beach,
California. The plan advocated the
payment of $200 per month to every
American sixty years of age or older.
An interesting proviso stipulated that
the entire $200 must be spent within
the United States in one month, thus
getting more money into circulation.
The Townsend Plan was to be fi-
nanced by means of a two percent
national sales tax. In 1936 and again
in 1938, every candidate for virtually
any public office in Florida had to be
prepared to declare himself on the

Townsend Plan. Needless to say, most
Florida politicians favored it.

An indication of Townsend Club
political clout was demonstrated in
1936, when the clubs were able to
propel Charles O. Andrews, a little
known former circuit judge, into the
United States Senate, and Joe
Hendricks of Deland into the United
States House of Representatives.
This evidence of Townsendite politi-
cal power was repeated in 1938 with
the election of Pat Cannon, a little-
known Miami attorney, to the United
States House of Representatives.

During the Depression, an in-
formal political alliance was formed
between the rural “cracker” vote of
north Florida and the urban labor
vote of south Florida. It was this coa-
lition that elected Claude Pepper to
the United States Senate and elected
Fred P. Cone governor in 1936 and
Fuller Warren governor in 1948, The
populist approach seemed to appeal
to both groups. This was the politi-
cal landscape of Depression-era
Florida when Claude Pepper made
his first entry into statewide politics
in 1934.5

CLAUDE PEPPER

Claude Pepper was born in
Dudley, Alabama, September 8, 1900.
He graduated from the University of
Alabama in 1921 and from the
Harvard University Law School in
1924. Pepper taught at the Univer-
sity of Arkansas Law School during
the 1924-25 academic year, then de-
cided to go into private practice and
in 1925 moved to Perry, Florida,
where he “hung out his shingle.” In
1928, after only three years residence
in Florida, Pepper entered the Demo-
cratic primary in an effort to gain a
seat in the state legislature and man-
aged to defeat the incumbent. While
Claude Pepper was in the legislature,
a vote took place on a House Resolu-
tion that would be forgotten for more
than half a century, but would be re-
vived in the 1980s for obvious politi-
cal reasons.®

In 1928, Republican Herbert
Hoover was elected president by a
landslide vote. He even carried five
southern states, including Florida.
The solid Democratic South was shat-
tered, at least temporarily. In 1929,
shortly after the Hoovers moved into
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the White House, Mrs. Hoover gave
a tea for congressional wives. It so
happened that Congressman Oscar
DePriest, Chicago Republican, was a
Negro. The invitations were deliv-
ered, the tea was held, and Mrs.
DePriest attended. That should have
been the end of the matter, but it was
not. On June 17, 1929, Representa-
tives Way of Pinellas County and
Getzen of Sumter County introduced
a resolution in the Florida House con-
demning the fact that, “...at the White
House, the official residence of the
President of the United States... a
negro woman by the name of De
Priest was entertained and received
on terms of equality with the white
ladies present.”

The resolution went on to state
that social intercourse between the
white and black races is contrary to
the decency of all parties concerned
and that a line of demarcation will
always exist between the races. The
resolution continued with a request
that Glenn Skipper, the Florida Re-
publican national committeeman,
deliver the protest to President
Hoover.

The resolution passed the house
of representatives by a vote of sev-
enty-one to thirteen, Claude Pepper
having the good fortune to vote with
the opposition. That meaningless
resolution had no impact in Florida
at that time or at any time in the fu-
ture. It was never an issue in any of
Pepper’s six campaigns for the
United States Senate. In fact, the
resolution was forgotten for more
than a half century, until Pepper’s
negative vote was resurrected dur-
ing the 1980s. Pepper mentions it
in his memoirs, published in 1987,
referring to it as “my first civil rights
vote.” Of course, the invitation which
inspired this incredible resolution
had nothing to do with civil rights; it
concerned White House etiquette and
good manners. However, Pepper did
state in his memoirs, “I was not as
liberal on the race issue as I later be-
came,” which was certainly an under-
statement. At the time of Pepper’s
death in 1989, much was said and
written concerning his negative vote
on the 1929 resolution. The motive
is obvious—to give Pepper a civil
rights record during a period of his

career when none existed. Pepper
was defeated in the 1930 Democratic
primary. In his memoirs he blamed
the 1929 vote for this defeat. This
assertion is probably not accurate,
since incumbents were far more apt
to be defeated then than now. Pep-
per himself, after only three years
residence in Perry, had unseated the
incumbent in 1928. Pepper’s 1930
opponent did not make the House
Resolution vote an issue.®! However,
Pepper’s evolving racial views would
be an important factor in subsequent
campaigns, particularly after the abo-
lition of the white primary in 1944
and the initial stirrings of Negro
rights activities.

In 1934, Claude Pepper decided
to enter the Democratic primary
against three-term incumbent United
States Senator Park Trammell, who
had never been defeated in any elec-
tion since he was elected Mayor of
Lakeland in 1899 at the age of
twenty-three. It seemed as though
Pepper faced an impossible task. He
had only held one elective position,
as a one-term member of the state
legislature, certainly not an impres-
sive political record. In Broward
County, Pepper could count on the
vigorous support of his Harvard Law
School classmate, Fort Lauderdale at-
torney George W. English, Jr., who
remained a loyal supporter through-
out Pepper’s career. In the mean-
time, Pepper stumped the state in
behalf of his seemingly hopeless can-
didacy. The election results amazed
the pundits; Pepper trailed the invin-
cible Trammell by only 2,000 votes.
The final count was: Park Trammell
81,321; Claude Pepper 79,396; C. A.
Mitchell 30,455; James B. Sikes
14,558; Hortense Wells 8,167.°

A run-off election was now in or-
der, and Trammell realized that he
was in serious political trouble. So
he put his people to work and was
able to score a narrow victory. In the
run-off Trammell topped Pepper by
a little more than 4,000 votes.?

Serious misgivings arose over
the vote count in Hillsborough
County, which Trammell carried by
a surprisingly lopsided margin. How-
ever, Pepper refused to issue a chal-
lenge to the official result, an action
which paid off two years hence.

Senator Park Trammell

In 1936, Florida'’s two longtime
senators, Park Trammell, with nine-
teen years in office, and Duncan U.
Fletcher, with twenty-seven years in
office, died within six weeks of each
other, Trammell on May 8 and
Fletcher on June 17. For the
Trammell vacancy, Charles O.
Andrews of Orlando, a little-known
former judge who several years ear-
lier had presided over a circuit in the
panhandle, scored an upset victory
over the highly-favored former gov-
ernor Doyle E. Carlton of Tampa.
Andrews’ victory resulted in part
from the support of the powerful
Townsend Clubs. For the Fletcher
vacancy, Claude Pepper was awarded
a “free ride.” No candidate filed
against him in the Democratic pri-
mary, and he had no Republican op-
position in the general election. As
senator, Pepper soon stood out as an
ardent champion of the New Deal,
the Townsend Plan, and the Cross
State Canal. At that stage of his ca-
reer, he was also a strong supporter
of white supremacy, and in 1937
joined in the successful southern
Democratic filibuster against the
anti-lynching bill.

In 1938, after serving the re-
maining two years of Duncan U.
Fletcher’s unexpired term, Pepper
faced election for a full term. While
in 1936, he had enjoyed a “free ride”
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to the Senate as a result of his gener-
ous concession to Trammell two years
previously, in 1938 he faced tough
competition. Fourth District Con-
gressman J. Mark Wilcox of West
Palm Beach, an arch foe of the
Townsend Plan, filed against Pepper,
as did former Governor Dave Sholtz.
Two minor candidates also entered
the fray. In Fort Lauderdale, Robert
H. Gore, the aggressive and opinion-
ated publisher of the Fort Lauderdale
Daily News, seemed unconcerned
with Pepper’s candidacy. Gore had
two old scores to settle—one with
Wilcox and the other with Sholtz. So,
by the process of elimination, it ap-
pears that Gore favored Pepper.

During the course of the cam-
paign, Claude Pepper declared his
undying devotion to the New Deal
and to the Townsend Plan. Sholtz did
the same, but criticized Pepper for
not getting the Townsend Plan
through Congress. Wilcox, the most
conservative of the candidates, said
that he supported most of Roosevelt’s
policies, but stated that he would not
be a “rubber stamp.”

Claude Pepper, with the support
of Governor Fred P. Cone, the
Townsend Clubs, organized labor, and
many political leaders throughout
the state, scored the greatest triumph
of his political career. He received
almost sixty percent of the entire
vote, and was thus able to avoid a
run-off. The vote was: Pepper
242.575; Wilcox 110,675; Sholtz
52,785.1 In Broward County, the vote
was: Wilcox 3,064; Pepper 3,013;
Sholtz 624.12

Pepper’s strength was distrib-
uted throughout the state, while
Wilcox’s vote, as demonstrated by the
Broward County figures, came
mainly from his own congressional
district. Former Governor Sholtz,
who had so dominated the 1933 and
1935 sessions of the legislature and
during that era had become the po-
litical strongman of the state, saw his
empire collapse “like a house of
cards.” He was completely repudi-
ated.

Claude Pepper had survived his
first big test and had done so in a very
impressive manner. He was at this
stage of his career at the height of
his statewide power and influence.

However, the following year issues
were to emerge which would place
Pepper on a collision course with
Robert H. Gore.

ROBERT H. GORE

Robert Hayes Gore was born in
Knottsville, Kentucky, on May 24,
1886. He entered St. Mary’s College
in St. Mary’s, Kentucky, and gradu-
ated after two years. After several
nondescript jobs, Gore began his ca-
reer in journalism as a reporter for
the OQwensboro Inquirer. After stints
with several other newspapers, he
came up with the idea of selling in-
surance through newspapers and
having the paper boys collect the pre-
miums when they made their regu-
lar collections. This idea caught on,
and Gore subsequently became pri-
marily involved in the insurance
business.

Gore’s newspaper work also led
him into the political field. In 1912,
he supported Theodore Roosevelt,
when the Republican ex-president
attempted a political comeback as the
presidential candidate of the Progres-

sive party. In 1920, Gore campaigned
for the release of the famed Socialist
leader and five-time presidential can-
didate Eugene V. Debs, who was lan-
guishing in a federal prison for vio-
lating the espionage laws of World
War I. In a newspaper editorial, Gore
called Debs a martyr and made the
astonishing comparison of the Social-
ist leader with John Brown.

In 1929, Gore, who was living
in Chicago, came to Fort Lauderdale
and paid a visit to the Fort Lauder-
dale Daily News to sell insurance.
His conversation with publisher Tom
Stilwell resulted in a strange turn-
around. Instead of buying Gore’s in-
surance plan, Stilwell offered the
paper to Gore for $90,000. In return,
Gore made an offer of $75,000, which
Stilwell eventually accepted. Robert
H. Gore published the Fort Lauder-
dale Daily News for the next thirty-
four years. Throughout this period,
he kept a very firm grip on its opera-
tions and policies.

Gore was an early backer of
Franklin D. Roosevelt for the Demo-
cratic presidential nomination in

Governor Robert H. Gore
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1932. He had first met the future
president in 1931. After Roosevelt
was nominated on the fourth ballot
at the Democratic national conven-
tion in Chicago, Gore became active
in the campaign, working closely
with the Democratic National Com-
mittee. In 1932, the country was in
the throes of the Great Depression,
sometimes called by critics of the
Hoover administration “the Hoover
Depression.” The Democrats took
advantage of such sentiment and
scored a landslide victory. Franklin
D. Roosevelt defeated incumbent
President Hoover by a margin of 472
electoral votes to fifty-nine. The
“Solid South” returned to the Demo-
cratic fold, Roosevelt carried forty-
two of the forty-eight states, and the
Democrats gained a substantial ma-
jority in both houses of Congress.

As the Democrats took control
of the White House for the first time
in twelve years, Robert H. Gore got
in line with other “deserving” and pa-
tronage-hungry Democrats. Gore
had his eye on the position of Collec-
tor of Internal Revenue. Whether or
not he had any real chance of obtain-
ing such a powerful and prestigious
position is far from certain, since he
had to compete with genuine politi-
cal and financial heavyweights, most
of whom had records of party regu-
larity longer than Gore’s. Neverthe-
less, any chance that Gore might
have had for the Collector’s post
“went down the drain” as a result of
an ill-advised speech in Havana,
Cuba, where a group of “Deserving
Democrats” met for a victory celebra-
tion. In a speech before a group of
prominent Americans and Cubans,
Gore told the Cubans to end the un-
rest plaguing their country or the
new American president would send
an army to “do the job for you.” The
audience, both Cuban and American,
was stunned.

During the early part of 1933,
Cuba was under the grip of the
Machado dictatorship. With much
unrest on the island and the Platt
Amendment still in force, Cubans
were particularly touchy on the sub-
ject of American intervention. Gore’s
intemperate remarks destroyed any
chance he might have had to become
Collector of Internal Revenue, but he

could not be pushed away from the
public trough so easily. He had loy-
ally supported the national ticket,
and in due time was rewarded with
an appointment as Governor of
Puerto Rico. His nomination was
confirmed by the Senate, and Gore
and his family moved to San Juan,
where the new governor assumed the
duties of office.

Robert H. Gore’s inaugural ad-
dress lasted twenty minutes, and
during that speech he made two pro-
posals that did not please many
Americans. First, he advocated cock
fighting and supported promoting
that barbarous activity as a national
sport to attract tourists. While many
Americans could not help but won-
der what caliber of tourists would be
attracted by that cruel “sport,” out-
raged humanitarian organizations
complained to President Roosevelt.
Roosevelt referred the complaints to
the appropriate government agen-
cies, and the matter apparently was
lost in the government bureaucracy.
Gore’s second controversial proposal
was that there be a vast Puerto Rican
migration to Florida. Puerto Ricans
had already begun settling in New
York City, and Gore commented that
New York was too far away and the
climate unsuitable for Caribbean
emigrants. Florida, Gore pointed out,
was much closer than New York, and
had a climate similar to the island
territory. No doubt this proposal
pleased many New Yorkers, but it
infuriated many Floridians, includ-
ing Governor Dave Sholtz, who pub-
licly denounced the proposal. This
dispute probably ignited the political
feud between Governors Sholtz and
Gore.

Upon taking office, Gore found
himself facing an impossible task.
The Puerto Ricans were bitterly di-
vided over a number of issues, the
most notable being the future rela-
tion of the island to the United States.
Disputes between factions favoring
complete independence, statehood,
and commonwealth status led to
abundant violence, including at-
tempts on the governor’s life. In ad-
dition to this “no win situation,” Gore
felt that he was losing the support of
the Roosevelt administration. His
relationship with James A. Farley,

chairman of the Democratic National
Committee and now postmaster gen-
eral, had become estranged as a re-
sult of the Havana speech. Faced
with mounting difficulties, Gore re-
signed as Governor of Puerto Rico in
January 1934. Although he had
served only six months, he cherished
the title of “Governor” for the rest of
his life.1?

Although he had purchased the
Fort Lauderdale Daily News in 1929,
Gore waited six years to establish his
official residence in Fort Lauderdale.
Soon after settling in the city, how-
ever, he became a principal down-
town property owner. At the urging
of Claude Pepper’s friend, George W.
English, Jr., Gore purchased the un-
finished Will Mar Hotel, a casualty
of the collapse of the Florida boom,
which had remained an eyesore for
several years. Gore completed the
unsightly skeleton structure as the
Governor’s Club Hotel, which opened
for business in 1937, and soon became
alandmark on the city’s skyline. The
Governor’s Club became Gore’s great-
est property acquisition and re-
mained Fort Lauderdale’s most fa-
mous and prestigious hotel for the
next forty years.

As publisher of the city’s only
major daily newspaper, Gore took
strong stands on issues, personalities,
and candidates on the national, state,
and local levels. Some of his personal
feuds became legendary, and his rift
with Franklin D. Roosevelt became
deeper until he became a bitter critic
of the Roosevelt administration. It
must also be remembered that Gore
flourished during the era of personal
journalism. At the present time, re-
sponsibility for the editorial opinions
expressed in the daily press is hid-
den behind a maze of faceless corpo-
rations and editorial boards. During
the years from 1929 to 1963, however,
every knowledgeable person in Fort
Lauderdale knew that responsibility
for the opinions expressed in the
Daily News lay with Robert H. Gore.

The first of Gore’s open feuds
with people of political importance
came in 1936, when the Fort Lauder-
dale Daily News opened a torrent of
abuse against local Congressman J.
Mark Wilcox of West Palm Beach.,
Wilcox had gained his congressional
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seat four years previously with an up-
set victory over the incumbent, Ruth
Bryan Owen, the daughter of Will-
iam Jennings Bryan and the first
woman elected to Congress from the
deep South. Wilcox was a formidable
antagonist and could certainly equal
Gore in the “game” of trading insults.
He survived the 1936 primary by
turning back the challenge of A.
Patrick Cannon, who had received
the complete support of the Townsend
Clubs and Robert H. Gore and the
Fort Lauderdale Daily News.'*

Politically 1936 was a water-
shed year for Robert H. Gore and his
newspaper. Fred P. Cone of Lake City
was elected governor with strong sup-
port from Broward Sheriff Walter R.
Clark and Fort Lauderdale attorney
John D. Kennedy. Gore also sup-
ported Cone, and in due time was ap-
pointed to the Florida Board of Con-
trol.1s

As stated previously, Gore’s pri-
mary concern with Claude Pepper’s
bid for reelection to the United States
Senate in 1938 seemed to be the fact
that Pepper faced serious challenges
from two of the publisher’s bitter foes,
Representative Wilcox and former
Governor Dave Sholtz. When Sholtz
finished a distant third in the vote
count, an insulting editorial appeared
on the front page of the Fort Lauder-
dale Daily News. The article began,
“Dave Sholtz you're through,” and
concluded by describing the former
governor’s “very real political grave
on a bleak and lonely hillside.”'6

PEPPER’S FIRST FULL TERM
In November 1938, Claude Pep-
per capped his substantial primary
victory by trouncing his general elec-
tion opponent, Thomas E. Swanson
of Fort Lauderdale, by an almost five
to one margin. By the time Pepper
reached Washington for the opening
session of the seventy-sixth Congress,
public issues had taken a drastic
turn. For the first six years of the
Roosevelt administration, the chief
concerns of the president and most
members of Congress had been on the
domestic front. The problems of the
Great Depression had received the
government’s virtually undivided at-
tention. In 1939, however, the ag-
gressive designs of Nazi Germany

worked their way to “center stage.”
On September 1, 1939, German
troops invaded Poland. Two days
later, England and France declared
war on Germany, and World War II
began. The Roosevelt administra-
tion, concerned over the frightening
prospect of a Nazi victory, immedi-
ately took steps to aid the Allies. In
the opening months of the conflict,
when the prospects for a German vic-
tory seemed remote, aid proposals,
such as the Cash and Carry program,
were quite modest. However, when
the Germans scored a series of
smashing victories in the spring of
1940, the aid proposals became much
more direct and vigorous. With ter-
rifying news reports coming from the
radio networks, many Americans be-
gan to feel that “the end of the world
was at hand.” The Roosevelt admin-
istration responded accordingly, de-
voting most of its attention to the war
situation in Europe and to determin-
ing what actions the government
could take to prevent a Nazi victory.
Of those in Congress favoring all-out
aid to Britain, Claude Pepper took the
lead, gaining a reputation as the most
extreme interventionist in the Sen-
ate, a sort of “twentieth century Paul
Revere,” warning his countrymen of
the impending onslaught by a foreign
foe.

In 1940, Pepper continued his
complete support of President
Roosevelt’s policies, both foreign and
domestic. He supported Roosevelt’s
renomination and reelection to an
unprecedented third term, and he
supported the controversial nomina-
tion of Roosevelt’s choice for vice
president, Henry A. Wallace. Dur-
ing this period the American military
build-up continued, and new army,
naval, and air bases were constructed
across the country, including Eglin
Field in Florida’s panhandle and
Camp Blanding near Starke. As one
of Florida’s United States Senators
and a close ally of the administration,
Pepper was instrumental in estab-
lishing these bases. As a result, in
June 1941, he found himself the tar-
get of a bitterly worded front page
editorial in the Fort Lauderdale
Daily News. The column, titled “Pass
In Review,” called Pepper, among
other things, a war profiteer. It

claimed that he had forced through
an exorbitant asphalt contract for
Eglin Field, and had selected a
swampy site for Camp Blanding
which cost the taxpayers $21,000,000
above the initial construction esti-
mates. The editorial concluded with
a scathing personal attack, blasting
Pepper as, “..just another insignifi-
cant rotten political rat,” and propos-
ing that he be “...removed forever
from official circles and condemned
to eternal disgrace among free, de-
cent, and honest men.” The article
was signed “W.G.W,” for William G.
Warnock, the editor of the paper.

Two days later, a startling event
took place. An apology appeared in
Gore’s paper. On June 9, 1941, in the
“Pass In Review” editorial, Warnock
wrote that he had been out of line
and had not cleared the earlier ar-
ticle with the publisher. Since most
people assumed that nothing ap-
peared in the Fort Lauderdale Daily
News without Gore’s prior permis-
sion, the apology was, in itself, a news
story.18

As the war in Europe intensi-
fied, Pepper continued his vocal
praise for Great Britain and her lead-
ers, which earned him a reputation
as the most outstanding Anglophile
in the United States Senate. Pepper’s
many critics accused him of believ-
ing that the British could do no
wrong, and castigated him as a “war
monger.” Then, on June 22, 1941,
the Germans launched a massive in-
vasion of the Soviet Union. Pepper
immediately called for American aid
to the Soviets with the same shrill
rhetoric with which he espoused aid
to Britain.

On December 8, as a result of
the Japanese sneak attack on Pearl
Harbor, the United States formally
entered the war. For nearly four
years, the overriding consideration
for the American people and govern-
ment was winning the war. As a re-
sult, the United States was willing
to accept the partnership of any na-
tion, no matter how loathsome, which
stood in the path of Axis world domi-
nation. This war spirit led the Ameri-
can government to take the official
position that the Soviet Union was
“our noble ally.” This pro-Soviet po-
sition was endorsed enthusiastically
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DEMOCRACY
AT WORK IN WARTIME

Informed citizéns rule America,  And the newspaper
gives them the facts that muakes them intelligent
citizens . . . and thus makes Democracy possible. The
newspaper’s features and public service departments
tell Americans what they need 1o know to help win the
war. Through its advertisements, people in all walks
of life learn to buy wisely and spend well for Vietory.
Yes, the newspaper is truly the Arsenal of Freedom
+ + . the guardian of 'our Way of Life. The Ft. Laud-
erdale Daily News is proud to serve the interests of
our readers—in war and in peace. We shall continue
fo meet that responsibility squarely . . . to print noth-
ing but the truth, We'll give you the facts in news
and advertising. The rest is up to you.. Do YOUR

part to preserve the American Way of Life.

Fi. Lauderdale DAILY NEWS

CIRCULATION —— ADVERTISING

29--PHONE--30

Wartime advertisement from the Fort Lauderdale Daily News.

by Vice President Henry A. Wallace
and Florida’s Senator Claude Pepper.

ELECTION OF ‘44

In 1944, Claude Pepper, with
eight years of service behind him in
the United States Senate, had to
stand for reelection. Unlike six years
before, Pepper in 1944 faced only
nominal opposition. As mentioned
previously, Florida Democrats re-
ceived a “shocker” that year when the
United States Supreme Court de-
clared the white primary unconsti-

tutional. Throughout the South, op-
position to the court decision was
solid. Liberals as well as conserva-
tives, Roosevelt supporters as well as
Roosevelt detractors, pro-labor as
well as pro-business, and social re-
formers as well as supporters of the
status quo, all united on this one is-
sue, Conservative Senator Ellison D.
(Cotton Ed) Smith of South Carolina
said, “I am for white supremacy,and
whoever does not like it can go to
hell.” Moderate Senator Burnette
Maybank of South Carolina said, “Re-

gardless of any act of Congress or any
decision of the Supreme Court, we
will continue to conduct our affairs
as we believe to be in the best inter-
est of our people.” Liberal Senator
Claude Pepper of Florida said, “The
South will allow nothing to impair
white supremacy.”®

In the ensuing primary election,
Pepper faced four opponents, Judge
J. Ollie Edmunds of Jacksonville,
Millard Conklin of Daytona Beach,
Findley Moore of Lake City, and
Alston Cockrell of Jacksonville.
White supremacy was a major cam-
paign issue, but all five candidates
took the same side, each trying to out
do the others in expressing complete
devotion to the cause. The recent
Supreme Court decision, while in-
flaming campaign rhetoric, had no
noticeable effect on the racial makeup
of the electorate. The few Negroes
registered to vote in Florida resided
in the urban counties and were al-
most universally registered Republi-
can.

Robert H. Gore, through the
pages of the Fort Lauderdale Daily
News, blasted Pepper throughout the
campaign. The paper claimed that
Pepper was not sincere in his advo-
cacy of white supremacy, that he took
orders from the President and the
First Lady, and that he should be re-
moved from the Senate. Gore’s stand
was significant because the Fort Lau-
derdale paper was one of the few
newspapers in the state to endorse
Edmunds. By far the majority of the
state’s papers endorsed Pepper. The
incumbent senator’s platform came
as no surprise. In addition to advo-
cating white supremacy, he pledged
complete support for the Roosevelt
administration and the war effort.
While his opponents also endorsed
white supremacy and promised to
support the war effort, they were
generally critical of Roosevelt’s do-
mestic policies.

With the support of the
Roosevelt administration, organized
labor, what was left of the Townsend
Clubs, and most of the state’s politi-
cians, Claude Pepper scored a pri-
mary victory. By receiving close to
fifty-one percent of the total, he was
barely able to avoid a run-off,
whereas six years earlier he had se-



18 — Broward Legacy

cured close to sixty percent of the vote
against much more formidable oppo-
sition. Statewide, the vote was:
Claude Pepper 194,445; J. Ollie
Edmunds 127,158; Millard Conklin
33,317; Finley Moore 14,445; Alston
Cockrell 9,551. The vote in Broward
County was: Edmunds 3,343; Pepper
2,860; Conklin 856; Moore 236;
Cockrell 199.

If Pepper had not played the ra-
cial card in 1944, he almost certainly
would not have survived the Demo-
cratic primary. But survive he did,
and so was able to continue to take
part in both wartime and postwar
legislation.?

THE COLD WAR

During the 1944 campaign,
Claude Pepper predictably supported
the renomination and reelection of
Franklin D. Roosevelt to a fourth
term, but he also strongly supported
the renomination efforts of Vice-
President Henry A. Wallace at the
party convention. However, Wallace

was defeated by Senator Harry S.
Truman of Missouri on the second
ballot in a bitter convention battle.
Roosevelt was reelected in November,
and shortly after his January 20,
1945 inauguration, appointed former
Vice President Wallace to the cabinet
as secretary of commerce. Although
the appointment met stiff opposition
in the Senate, Claude Pepper, who
by this time was emerging as a leader
of the extreme liberal faction,
staunchly defended Wallace.?!

Nineteen forty-five proved to be
a pivotal year in American history. In
April, Franklin D. Roosevelt died,
and Harry S. Truman took office as
president. In August, World War II
ended in a complete victory for the
Allies. Before the year was over, how-
ever, postwar problems were emerg-
ing.

During the war, the Russian al-
liance had never been popular with
many elements in the United
States.?? Ever mindful of its neces-
sity to the war effort, the Roosevelt

administration launched a major
public relations campaign to sell the
alliance to the American public. With
the end of hostilities, the situation
changed. The defeat of mutual en-
emies removed the demand for a coa-
lition with a dubious ally. In addi-
tion, alarming reports of brutal Rus-
sian conduct in Soviet-occupied ter-
ritories began to reach the United
States. Accounts of the Russian in-
vasion of central Europe read like a
horror story, and there seemed to be
no end to Stalin’s ambitious designs.

In early 1946, the Soviets an-
nounced their intention to keep
troops in Iran, despite a previous
pledge to withdraw them. Britain
launched an immediate protest, and
was joined by the Truman adminis-
tration. This was the situation when
Claude Pepper entered the fray. The
Florida senator, apparently moti-
vated by wartime lore, took up the
cudgels for our erstwhile “noble ally.”
In a dramatic oration, he thundered
that a country with troops stationed

Soviet dictator Joseph Stalin (left), President Harry Truman (center), and British Prime Minister
Winston Churchill (right), leaders of the world powers at the beginning of the Cold War.
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across the globe “from Suez to
Singapore” had no right to prevent a
“friendly” nation from moving a few
soldiers a few miles into a neighbor-
ing country in order to prevent an oil
monopoly.

Claude Pepper, who had pro-
moted the British cause with so much
enthusiasm before and during the
war, now suddenly became concerned
over threats of British imperialism.
This new outlook was clear in
Pepper’s response to a landmark
speech delivered by Winston
Churchill on March 5, 1946.
Churchill, on a lecture tour of the
United States, appeared at a convo-
cation at Westminster College in
Fulton, Missouri, to receive an hon-
orary degree. With President
Truman sitting on the platform,
Churchill heralded the Cold War. He
said in part:

A shadow has fallen upon the
scenes so lately lighted by the
Allied victory. Nobody knows
what Soviet Russia and its
Commaunist international
organization intends to do in the
immediate future, or what are the
limits to their expansive and
proselytizing tendencies . . . From
Stettin in the Baltic to Trieste in
the Adriatic, an iron curtain has
descended across the continent.
Behind that line all the capitals
of the ancient states of Central
and Eastern Europe. Warsaw,
Berlin, Prague, Vienna,
Budapest, Belgrade, Bucharest,
and Sophia, all famous cities and
the populations around them lie
in what I must call the Soviet
sphere, and are subject in one
form or another, not only to Soviet
influence, but to a very high
degree and in many cases
increasing measure of control
from Moscow . . .Whatever
conclusions may be drawn from
these facts—and facts they are—
this is certainly not the liberated
Europe we fought to build up.
Nor is it one which contains the
essentials of permanent peace.

With this speech, the former British
prime minister introduced the “Iron
Curtain” as a new term in our vo-
cabulary, one which has been with us

ever since,”

American reaction to
Churchill’s speech was mixed. While
many people praised his oratorical
effort, criticism came mainly from
two groups which had very little in
common with one another. The first
of these was a remnant of the pre-
war “isolationists,” who were guided
primarily by a strong anti-British
bias. The second was a very vocal
left-wing element with a strong pro-
Russian bias. Joining these critics,
Senator Claude Pepper continued his
assault on “British Imperialism.” The
Florida senator commented that
Churchill had spoken “in his best
Marlborough manner for glorious
imperialism—but it is always British
imperialism.” He added, “Of course,
we want Anglo-American coopera-
tion, but not exclusively.”?*

Continuing his anti-British ora-
tory, Pepper shifted his attention
back to the Russian-Iranian situa-
tion, taking exception to the fact that
the Soviet Union did not get anything
out of the settlement. The Florida
senator charged that the United
States was becoming “a guarantor of
British imperialism” by “rushing to
the side of law and order” only when
Russia was the culprit. In a dramati-
cally delivered speech on the Senate
floor, he declared that it was easy to
“gang up” on Russia, and continued:

... the British make the most
sanctimonious pretense that they
are for freedom for everyone in the
world. Tb every Englishman in
the world they offer freedom, and
that is about as far as their record
in that particular goes. What I
decry is the international
hypocrisy, sham, and pretense. If
the British people want the
Russians to get their troops out
of Iran, let them get their troops
out of Iraq. Let them get their
troops out of Iran. Let them get
their troops out of Lebanon and
Syria, and let them get their
troops out of Palestine.?

In response to Democratic Sena-
tor Carl Hatch of New Mexico, Pep-
per asked, “What has the American
delegation (in the United Nations
Security Council) done to get foreign
troops out of foreign territories?

Secretary of State
James F. Byrnes

What have they done in Indonesia?
I have not seen the Secretary of State
as a white knight on his gallant
charger rushing to the liberation of
Indonesia, when in some cases with
American lend lease equipment they
[the British] have been shooting
down people who do no more than
American revolutionaries did. All I
am asking is for an American policy
that will say to everyone, ‘Get out of
everybody else’s country.’ *%
Senator Pepper made similar
statements throughout 1946 and in
the succeeding years. His critics, in
turn, pointed out that the British
government was no more imperialis-
tic in the late 1940s than it had been
in the late 1930s and early 1940s,
when Pepper had strongly supported
English international policy. Fur-
thermore, Pepper’s statements re-
flected a cleavage that was develop-
ing within the Truman administra-
tion. President Truman and Secre-
tary of State James F. Byrnes were
moving toward a “get tough” policy
with Russia, while Secretary of Com-
merce Henry A. Wallace strongly fa-
vored accommodating our erstwhile
wartime “noble ally.” The most ar-
dent Wallace supporters in the
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United States Senate were Glen Tay-
lor of Idaho and Claude Pepper of
Florida.

Senator Pepper drew loud ap-
plause from radical audiences in the
North, particularly in New York, and
was highly praised in the left-wing
press. It was because of this marked
leftward turn on international affairs
that Claude Pepper gained the label
of “Red Pepper,” a name that would
stick to him for a generation. Pep-
per and Wallace, in their denuncia-
tion of the Truman-Byrnes “get
tough” Soviet policy, charged that
Truman had reversed the pro-Rus-
sian policy of Franklin D. Roosevelt.
They did not take into account the
fact that the world situation had
changed with the end of the war, or
the likelihood that Roosevelt himself
would have changed his policy to
meet the new threat posed by the
U.S.S.R.

Florida, which had experienced
a leftward drift during the 1930s,
underwent a rightward drift during
the 1940s. However, as Florida

moved right, Claude Pepper moved
left. In the process, he became a hero
to extreme liberal and radical ele-
ments throughout the country, but
this new-found celebrity status

U.S. Senator from Florida
Charles 0. Andrews

caused him serious political problems
“back home.” Florida was basically a
conservative state, and widespread
criticism of Pepper began to surface.
Pepper’s old enemy, Robert H. Gore,
moved to the front of the “Pepper
bashing” contingent, assailing the
senator on a variety of issues. In one
Fort Lauderdale Daily News edito-
rial, Gore criticized Pepper’s foreign
travel, Another article in the Daily
News stated:

PEPPER DISFAVOR
GROWS IN STATE

At least a dozen Ft.
Lauderdale residents, deeply
disturbed by the stand adopted
by Florida’s Senator Claude
Pepper in challenging President
Truman’s proposed labor
legislation, have taken a direct-
approach towards doing
something about it by wiring the
President their congratulations
on his speech to Congress, and
pointing out that Pepper is not
speaking for the majority of
Florida’s citizens. Among the
telegrams was one sent by Sig
Bechhold, president of the South
Florida Canners Association,
which stated:

‘This is to inform you that
Senator Pepper no longer
expresses the opinion of the people
of this state and that the majority
of the people are behind you in
your stand to protect all the
people.”?”

In this “news” article, Gore once
more illustrated his deep-seated an-
tagonism toward organized labor. At
this stage, he seemed more concerned
with labor strikes than with the is-
sue of Russian expansion abroad.
However, most of the anti-Pepper
opinions that surfaced in Florida dur-
ing 1946 were concerned with what
was perceived as Pepper’s continual
defense of Soviet conquests and con-
stant apology for Soviet behavior.

Florida’s senior senator,
Charles O. Andrews, though ailing,
took the lead in the anti-Pepper cam-
paign. Andrews described Pepper’s
recent foreign policy pronouncements
as an embarrassment to the state of
Florida, and declared:

I thoroughly disagree with
the statement made by my
colleague on the floor of the
Senate in which he stated the
United States ‘is ganging up’
with Great Britain against
Russia; nor do I agree with any
other part of his statement.

Coming from the same state,
as I do, I feel I should state that
such sentiment as was expressed
by my colleague does not
represent the feeling and
sentiment of the great mass of the
people of Florida.

Iam hoping he will apologize
to Secretary of State Byrnes and
President Truman, whose
patriotism cannot be questioned.
Neither can their personal or
political integrity be questioned.?

Despite these warnings, Claude
Pepper gave no indication that he had
any concern over the rumblings on
the home front. He continued to
hammer at his two great concerns—
“British imperialism” and the “Rus-
sian need for security.” He contin-
ued to speak before radical audiences
in the North as well as making count-
less speeches on the floor of the Sen-
ate. In an August 13, 1946 Senate
speech, he demanded that the Brit-
ish government withdraw all troops
from Palestine and insisted that the
United Nations assume jurisdiction
there and admit 100,000 Jews at
once. At the same time, Pepper
claimed that he had not heard of per-
secution of Jews or other minorities
in Russia, Romania, Hungary, or the
Balkans. When questioned about
pogroms in Poland, he replied that
he had not visited that country when
he traveled abroad. From his discus-
sion of Palestine, Pepper turned his
attention back to Iran, criticizing
Britain for sending troops to protect
the oil wells in the southern part of
that country after Russia had failed
to withdraw from the northern por-
tion by a set date.?

In the meantime, Secretary of
Commerce Wallace was becoming
more and more outspoken in his criti-
cism of President Truman’s and Sec-
retary of State Byrnes’ Russian
policy. On September 12, 19486,
Wallace delivered a major foreign
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policy address at Madison Square
Garden in New York City. The meet-
ing was sponsored by the National
Citizens Political Action Committee
and the Independent Citizens Com-
mittee of the Arts, Sciences, and the
Professions, both considered to be
ultra-liberal, radical, and pro-Rus-
sian. Although Wallace was listed as
the main speaker, it was Senator
Claude Pepper of Florida who “stole
the show,” bringing the crowd to its
feet with his eloquent defense of Com-
munist Russia and blistering criti-
cism of the Truman-Byrnes foreign
policy. “With conservative Democrats
and reactionary Republicans making
our foreign policy as they are today,”
the Floridian shouted, “it is all that
we can do to keep foolish people from
having a Hitler blitzkrieg and drop
our atomic bombs on the Russian
people.” Senator Pepper continued,
“It is not far from ‘get tough’ to ‘get
rough.” I think we ought to remem-
ber, however, that the last two fellows
who tried to get rough with the Rus-
sians—you may remember them
from their first names, Napoleon and
Adolf—did not fare so well.” He then
declared, “You and I know that today
the reason we have so much unity
behind our foreign policy is because
there is so much McKinley imperial-
ism in our foreign policy. What do
you expect in a foreign policy which
really meets the approval of Senator
Vandenburg and John Foster
Dulles?”%

Although he was billed as the
“star attraction,” Secretary of Com-
merce Wallace was not the “star of
the show.” In fact, Wallace drew a
few boos because he mixed his severe
criticism of American foreign policy
with a very few mild criticisms of
Russian behavior. No such “indiscre-
tion” marred Claude Pepper’s speech,
so the Florida senator became the
hero of the radical multitude.

Though Pepper made the big-
gest “hit” with the Madison Square
Garden audience, it was Secretary
Wallace who caused the greatest con-
cern within the administration.
When news of the Madison Square
Garden “shenanigans” reached Paris,
where Secretary of State Byrnes was
attending a foreign ministers confer-

ence, Byrnes was furious. In due
time he sent Truman the following
message:

If it is not possible for you,
for any reason, to keep Mr.
Wallace as a member of your
cabinet, from speaking on foreign
affairs, it would be a grave
mistake from every point of view
for me to continue in office even
temporarily. Therefore if it is not
clear in your mind that Mr.
Wallace should be asked to
refrain from criticizing the
foreign policy of the United States
while he is a member of your
cabinet, I must ask you to accept
my resignation immediately.’!

The Byrnes ultimatum put
Truman “on the spot.” The embattled
president wanted very much, for po-
litical reasons, to keep Wallace in the
cabinet. The secretary of commerce
was the last Roosevelt appointee re-
maining in the cabinet. In addition,
Wallace was very popular with the
extreme liberal and radical wings of
the Democratic party. Truman, as a
seasoned politician, knew that he
faced a hard struggle in the 1948 elec-
tion, so he wanted to pacify the ex-
treme left. However, he also realized
that by placating the Wallace faction
he had jeopardized his broad support
for a bipartisan foreign policy. Sit-
ting at his desk facing the plaque in-
scribed, “The buck stops here,” Harry
Truman went over his options and
made up his mind. The next day he
telephoned Henry Wallace and asked
for his resignation, which was given
immediately.

Wallace’s departure from the
Truman cabinet was greeted with a
storm of protest from extreme liber-
als and radicals throughout the coun-
try. No one was louder in his sup-
port of Wallace than Senator Claude
Pepper, who went so far as to sug-
gest that the former cabinet member
replace Truman on the Democratic
ticket in 1948.%

In spite of Wallace’s departure,
James F. Byrnes resigned as secre-
tary of state on January 6, 1947, and
was replaced by General George C.
Marshall, the wartime army chief of
staff. The Truman-Marshall foreign
policy continued along the same lines

Secretary of State
George C. Marshall

as the Truman-Byrnes foreign policy,
and Claude Pepper continued his op-
position.

When the British government
informed the Truman administration
that it could no longer fulfill its com-
mitments to protect Greece and Tur-
key from Russian aggression, Presi-
dent Truman, on March 12, 1947,
addressed Congress and announced
what has come to be called the
Truman Doctrine. The United States
would guarantee the independence of
Greece and Turkey, thus taking her
place as the leader of the anti-Com-
munist crusade. One year after Win-
ston Churchill had proclaimed the
Cold War, it was in full force. The
Truman Doctrine was to be imple-
mented by a $400,000,000 financial
aid package to Greece and Turkey.

The Truman Doctrine drew im-
mediate and vigorous opposition from
the expected source—the unlikely
coalition of the isolationist right and
the pro-Russian left. It seemed as
though this group brought every
Turkish atrocity of the last 1,000
years to light in an attempt to dis-
credit the U.S. aid program. Predict-
ably, Claude Pepper joined the battle
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against the Truman Doctrine, charg-
ing the administration with trying to
promote a global Monroe Doctrine.??

Senator Pepper amazed many
Americans when he declared that
Russia had as much right to the
Dardanelles as the United States had
to the Panama Canal. Repeatedly,
before congressional committees and
in floor debate, the strategic Turkish
straits had been cited as a crucial fac-
tor in halting Communist expansion.
The Florida senator argued for four
hours against the proposed
$400,000,000 Greek-Turkish imple-
mentation of the Truman Doctrine,
and then demonstrated that he still
had the capacity to surprise people
when he made the astonishing state-
ment that he would vote for the pro-
gram if his opposition faced defeat by
a Senate majority.?

During the course of these de-
bates, Pepper received from Demo-
cratic Senator Carl Hatch of New
Mexico what the Floridian considered
alecture on patriotism. After a sharp
exchange, during which Hatch ac-
cused Pepper of wishing to “accede
to the Russian position,” the Florida
senator came back heatedly:

I should think there is a good
deal to be said for it. The
Russians have as much right to
be there as we have to be in
Panama, to be perfectly frank.
Now if we are going to get down
to the morality of these issues, I
do not think that we can wrap the
cloak of holiness around
ourselves and protect our
strategic interests and say, ‘God
ordained,” without saying that
these other people have got
something on their side when
they make the same demands.”®

These words from the lips of
Claude Pepper drew an emotional re-
sponse from fellow Democrat Hatch,
“I resent the words the Senator uses,
when he says our country is wrap-
ping the cloak of holiness around it-
self. We have not done that. We have
never done it.” The New Mexico
senator went on to propose that Rus-
sia bring the problem before the
United Nations. Pepper concurred,
but used the opportunity to fire an-
other verbal shot at British imperi-

alism, stating, “I have not seen the
British running in there [the United
Nations] about Singapore or
Gibraltar, and I have not heard of our
running in there about the Panama
Canal either. I do not know of any
compulsion upon the Russians that
does not morally apply to the rest of
us.” He closed by conceding that
“Russia has been guilty of a great
many things,” including exerting
pressure on neighboring states, but
concluded that this did not amount
to “aggression,” since Russia “has less
territory today than she had before
World War 1.7%6

On a European tour, Henry A.
Wallace made a series of speeches in
Great Britain and on the continent
denouncing American foreign policy.
The former vice president and cabi-
net member spoke before radical au-
diences, and drew tremendous ap-
plause. This startling event upset the
Labor government of Great Britain,
which was working closely with the
Truman administration in the effort
to halt Russian expansion. At the
same time, Prime Minister Clement
Atlee was making a tremendous ef-
fort to hold off the far left, pro-Rus-
sian elements within his own party,
and felt undermined at having a vis-
iting American dignitary denounce
those efforts. French leaders also felt
threatened by a well-known Ameri-
can making pro-Russian speeches in
their midst, especially since the Com-
munists at that moment formed the
largest single party in France’s multi-
party system.

But no uproar overseas com-
pared with the “explosion of wrath”
that appeared on the American scene.
Wallace was denounced as a traitor
and compared to Aaron Burr. In the
United States Senate, a suggestion
was made that he be denied reentry
into the United States. Many sena-
tors—and many Americans—consid-
ered it unthinkable that a former
vice-president of the United States
would go abroad and make speeches
designed to turn foreigners against
American foreign policy. Throughout
the furor, however, the embattled
former government official had two
defenders in the United States Sen-
ate—Glen Taylor of Idaho and Claude
Pepper of Florida.?”

Former Vice-President
Henry A. Wallace

As the year 1947 came to a close,
Claude Pepper had certainly made
his mark nationally. He was recog-
nized as the “leader of the far left
Democrats” in the United States Sen-
ate by the New York Times. He re-
ceived more national publicity than
all the other members of the Florida
congressional delegation combined.
His speeches in the Senate and his
enthusiastically received speeches
before radical audiences in the North,
especially in New York City, placed
him constantly in the national news.
His 1946 defense of the railroad strik-
ers and his advocacy of using armed
force to oust the Franco government
in Spain because of its fascist orien-
tation received national attention.3
But most public attention focused on
his eloquent speeches in defense of
Russian expansionist policy. While
Claude Pepper “wowed them” in New
York, no such constituency existed in
Florida at the time, so Pepper was
faced with serious reelection prob-
lems. Criticism of his foreign policy
stance was heard throughout the
state, and the label “Red Pepper”
gained common usage.

If Claude Pepper was not in
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enough political trouble because of
the Russian issue, he soon faced an-
other barrage of abuse on the racial
front. As previously noted, Pepper
owed his reelection in 1944 to his
strong endorsement of white su-
premacy. In his ensuing term of of-
fice, however, he added to his already
substantial political difficulties by
abandoning that position. As the
1950 election loomed on the horizon,
it appeared to many observers that
Senator Pepper was succeeding in
having another “nail driven into his
political coffin.”3®

In early 1948, President
Truman endorsed a civil rights pro-
gram, which, besides anti-poll tax
and anti-lynching provisions, in-
cluded a permanent Fair Employ-
ment Practices Commission.
Throughout the South, opposition to
the entire Truman civil rights pro-
gram was almost solid. One notable
exception was Florida Senator
Claude Pepper, the erstwhile cham-
pion of white supremacy. Pepper ac-
tually joined the unsuccessful at-
tempt to break the southern Demo-
cratic filibuster against the F.E.P.C.
bill before the Senate. His reversal
on racial policy made him vulnerable
on this front as well as the foreign
policy front, and brought forth an-
other torrent of abuse.*

1948 PRESIDENTIAL CAMPAIGN

In 1946, when Henry Wallace
had resigned as secretary of com-
merce, he assumed the position of
editor of the New Republic, at the
time an ultra-liberal journal. From
his editor’s desk, Wallace had contin-
ued his broadside against the
Truman foreign policy. As early as
1946, Pepper had endorsed Wallace
as a candidate against Truman for
the 1948 Democratic nomination.*
Throughout most of 1947, Pepper
continued his enthusiastic backing of
Wallace, which caused him additional
criticism and abuse in Florida. Then,
towards the end of the year, Wallace
announced his candidacy for presi-
dent in 1948 on a third party ticket.
That is when Claude Pepper, the
party loyalist, “bailed out” of the
Wallace movement. Pepper felt that
supporting Wallace’s nomination at
the Democratic National Convention

was one thing, but bolting the party
during a presidential election was
something entirely different.

Nevertheless, Pepper continued
to take “potshots” at Truman’s foreign
policy. For example, he suggested
that Marshall Plan operations be
handled by the United Nations. This
stand was obviously unpopular since
it meant the international manage-
ment of a plan financed solely by the
American taxpayers.*?

At the 1948 Democratic Na-
tional Convention in Philadelphia,
Senator Pepper joined a group of
prominent Democrats in an effort to
deny the nomination to Harry
Truman. This group, which included
James Roosevelt, cut across ideologi-
cal lines. Its one main concern was
to nominate someone who was elect-
able. An effort was launched to nomi-
nate General Dwight D. Eisenhower,
who at that time was president of
Columbia University. Of course, no
one in the group was certain that
Eisenhower was a Democrat, or had
the slightest idea of how he stood on
any publicissues. Eisenhower ended
the effort when he issued a statement
that he would not be a candidate “at
this time.” Claude Pepper then an-
nounced his own candidacy. Cynics
called this move the “Pepper
boomette.” The Florida senator
dropped out of contention after one
day. Fulton Lewis, the ultra-conser-
vative primetime radio news com-
mentator for the Mutual Broadcast-
ing System, called Pepper’s candi-
dacy “the first good laugh of the con-
vention.”

While a few Pepper supporters
were elected as delegates to the con-
vention, the majority of the Florida
delegation was anti-Pepper. How-
ever, the Florida delegation cast
unanimous ballots on the two most
important votes before the conven-
tion. All Florida delegates voted
against the platform plank endors-
ing Truman’s civil rights program,
which was narrowly adopted, and all
voted for Senator Richard Russell of
Georgia for the presidential nomina-
tion. The convention nominated
President Truman for another term,
and then nominated seventy-one-
year-old Senator Alben W. Barkley of

Kentucky, the Democratic leader of
the Senate, for vice-president. The
Republicans, having previously met
in Philadelphia, had nominated what
was generally considered a “dream
ticket” of Governor Thomas E. Dewey
of New York for president and Gov-
ernor Earl Warren of California for
vice-president. The Henry Wallace
following also held a convention in
Philadelphia, and, calling itself the
Progressive party, nominated Wallace
for president and Senator Glen Tay-
lor of Idaho for vice-president. Dis-
sident southern Democrats, angered
at the Democratic convention support
of the Truman civil rights program,
met in Birmingham, Alabama, and
formed the State’s Rights Democratic
party, nominating Governor J. Strom
Thurmond of South Carolina for
president and Governor Fielding
Wright of Mississippi for vice-presi-
dent. Journalists soon dubbed the
southern party as the “Dixiecrat”
party, a label which stuck during the
succeeding years to describe not only
the 1948 party, but also a state of
mind.

After all of the various conven-
tion activities were completed, one
thing seemed certain—President
Truman was doomed. The Republi-
cans had won control of both houses
of Congress during the 1946 mid-
term elections, public opinion polls
gave the president a high disapproval
rating, the Democratic party was
split three ways, and the delegates
at the Democratic National Conven-
tion had been reluctant to give the
nomination to the embattled presi-
dent. Among the general public, nu-
merous jokes and comments intended
to belittle the incumbent president
were in use, such as “to err is
Truman.” Thus, President Truman
embarked on his election drive in
what has been described as “the lone-
liest campaign.”

Senator Claude Pepper of
Florida, in the “Truman doghouse” for
three years since launching his fero-
cious verbal assault on the adminis-
tration policy, decided to patch up his
differences with the president. Soon
after the convention, Pepper an-
nounced all-out support for Truman,
and in the ensuing campaign made
many speeches in the president’s be-



24 — Broward Legacy

half. Pepper’s support of Truman'’s
reelection campaign coincided with
the senator’s backing away from his
unpopular pro-Russian stance.
Clearly, the Cold War was in full
force, and sympathy for our Commu-
nist wartime ally had faded among
all but the most radical Americans.
Though Pepper belatedly adjusted to
postwar realities and backed off from
his extreme statements of 1945, 1946,
and 1947, his critics had long memo-
ries. Though Pepper emerged by
1950 as a mild supporter of Truman’s
Cold War policy, the label “Red Pep-
per” would stick to him for decades
afterwards.

Early in the campaign, some
pundits predicted that Wallace would
get a minimum of ten million votes,
enabling Dewey to carry some elec-
toral-vote-rich industrial states that
Truman might otherwise win.
Thurmond managed to get on the
ballot in thirteen states, while
Wallace was on the ballot in forty-
five. Conventional wisdom had the
election “in the bag” for the Republi-
cans. Various public opinion polls, led
by the Gallup Poll, forecast Dewey
winning almost all of the northern
states, and the South dividing be-
tween Truman and Thurmond.

But Harry Truman, with the
use of a campaign train, made a
“whistle stop” campaign tour across
the country reminiscent of William
Jennings Bryan’s campaign fifty-two
years previously. The embattled
president made the Republican
Eightieth Congress the major issue
of his attack, calling it the second
worst Congress in American history.
Wallace’s support began to fade as
known or suspected Communists
played an increasingly prominent
part in the third party campaign.
Dewey behaved as though the cam-
paign was merely a necessary ritual
which he had to endure before tak-
ing the oath of office on January 20,
1949. Thurmond’s group had the ad-
vantage of controlling the Democratic
party machinery in a number of
southern states, but their appeal was
limited primarily to that region.

The 1948 presidential election
turned out to be one of the greatest
political upsets in the history of
American presidential politics.

Harry Truman scored a great per-
sonal triumph, carrying twenty-eight
of the forty-eight states with 303 elec-
toral votes, after being completely
written off by the pundits. The highly
favored Thomas E. Dewey carried
sixteen states with 189 electoral
votes. J. Strom Thurmond carried
four states with thirty-nine electoral
votes. Henry Wallace’s Progressive
party fell far below the original ex-
pectations, receiving just eight per-
cent of the vote in New York and
about five percent of the vote in Cali-
fornia, its two most promising states.
Nationally, Wallace polled only two
and four-tenths percent of the total
vote, falling even behind the small
vote cast for Thurmond.

Claude Pepper was thrilled over
Truman’s remarkable victory and, in
his enthusiasm, made a reckless
statement that would come back to
haunt him in the future. Pepper said,
“I will support the whole Truman civil
rights program, even if it beats me
for reelection.”*® That statement,
added to the praise Pepper was re-
ceiving from liberal journals, only
contributed to the political difficul-
ties he was facing in Florida. The
label “Red Pepper” continued to cling
to the embattled senator, despite the
fact that he had abandoned much of
his pro-Russian rhetoric as the Cold
War intensified, and now, for the first
time, he faced a serious challenge
over the race question.*

In the ensuing 1950 senatorial
campaign, Pepper’s switch from un-
vielding support of white supremacy
in 1944 to somewhat mild support of
the Fair Employment Practices Com-
mission would cause serious trouble
in a state where race consciousness
was both “alive and well.” Added to
Pepper’s changing views were shifts
in the political climate of his constitu-
ency, as the leftward drift of Florida
politics during the 1930s was re-
placed by a strong rightward drift
during the 1940s and 1950s. One
serious question bearing on Pepper’s
political future was not yet answered
— would the informal coalition of the
rural “cracker” vote of north Florida
and the urban labor vote of south
Florida, which had traditionally been
the senator’s base of support, with-
stand this new onslaught?

1950 SENATE CAMPAIGN

Senator Claude Pepper was
scheduled to face the judgment of the
voters in the Democratic primary on
May 2, 1950. Though he was carry-
ing double baggage — the Commu-
nist issue and the race issue — Pep-
per could count on a number of ad-
vantages to work in his favor. Dur-
ing his fourteen years in the Senate,
he had provided excellent constitu-
ency service, had an uncanny ability
to obtain federal projects in Florida,
and maintained a close political rela-
tionship with many power brokers
throughout the state.

Despite the flood of criticism
and abuse directed at Pepper
throughout Florida in 1950, his de-
feat was by no means a certainty. The
old political adage, “You can’t beat
somebody with nobody,” would cer-
tainly hold true. Pepper’s opponent,
if successful, could not be a political
nonentity. On January 12, 1950,
George A. Smathers, the thirty-six-
year-old two-term congressman from
Miami, formally had declared his can-
didacy.

George Armistead Smathers
was born in Atlantic City, New Jer-
sey, November 14, 1913, the son of
Judge Frank Smathers, a North
Carolinian who had migrated to New
Jersey shortly after the turn of the
century. The elder Smathers was
admitted to the New Jersey Bar in
1905, became involved in Democratic
politics, and became a close friend
and supporter of Woodrow Wilson.
Wilson was elected governor of New
Jersey in 1910, and appointed
Smathers state district judge the fol-
lowing year. Smathers suffered from
arthritis, and as a result, resigned his
judicial position and moved to Miami
where he was admitted to the Florida
Barin 1921. Many years later, Frank
Smathers’ brother, William H.
Smathers, served a term as United
States Senator from New Jersey.

George Smathers graduated
from the University of Florida Law
School in 1938. That spring he served
as campus campaign manager for
Claude Pepper’s reelection efforts.
After graduation, Smathers “hung
out his shingle” in Miami. In 1940,
he was appointed Assistant United
States Attorney for the Southern Dis-
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George A. Smathers, in a 1975 photo
(courtesy of the Sun-Sentinel).

trict of Florida. In that office, he dis-
tinguished himself as the prosecutor
of the notorious La Paloma Club and
its alleged owner, former Dade
County Solicitor Fred Pine. The
charge was violation of the Mann
(white slavery) Act. In this case,
Smathers demonstrated his skill as
a trial lawyer, facing Pine’s defense
attorney, Florida legal giant Vincent
C. Giblin, and winning a conviction
which was upheld on appeal.
Smathers served in the Marines from
1942 to 1945, and then served briefly
as assistant toAttorney General Tom
Clark. In the May 1946 Democratic
primary, Smathers toppled four-term
Congressman Pat Cannon, and in
January 1947 took his seat in the
Eightieth Congress.*

In his 1987 memoirs, Claude
Pepper made some interesting com-
ments on George Smathers and his
family. Pepper wrote, in part:

...in 1938, a tall, handsome,

earnest young man approached
after I had addressed students at
the University of Florida....He
wanted to be my campaign
manager on campus. Well, why
not? Ithought. I knew something
about his family—his uncle had
served with me in the Senate....So
I appointed young George
Smathers to manage my
campaign on the University of
Florida campus . . .

Shortly after his graduation
from law school, Smathers asked
me to recommend him
(tantamount to appointment) for
assistant U.S. attorney for the
Southern District of Florida.
District Attorney Herbert Phillips
resisted the appointment. He did
not trust Smathers, he said, and
did not want him. I also received
a telephone call from Dade
County Sheriff D.C. Coleman,
who asked if it was true that I

was going to name Smathers.
When I said yes, Coleman
declared, You’ll always regret it.’
‘Why do you feel that way?’ I
asked, ‘He’s able, bright, liberal.
I want to encourage that kind of
young man to become involved in
politics.” Coleman replied, ‘1
know him. I know his family. You
will regret it if you give him that
appointment.’

Pepper went on to write that he ig-
nored the warning.46

Claude Pepper continued in his
memoirs to state that in 1945, while
the Pacific war was still in progress,
Smathers had written him and prac-
tically begged him to use his influ-
ence to obtain an early release from
the Marine Corps. Pepper wrote that
he had complied with that request
and obtained for Smathers the posi-
tion as assistant to state Attorney
General Tom Clark.

George Smathers had some
tough obstacles to hurdle in his sena-
torial bid. While he was a “big
cheese” in the Fourth Congressional
District, his name meant nothing to
most voters in north Florida, particu-
larly in the panhandle. As of 1950,
no resident of Dade County had won
election for either governor or U.S.
senator. A keen observer of the po-
litical scene, commenting on the dif-
ficulties Smathers would face in
“reaching out” to voters in the pan-
handle, said, “The people up there
don’t know who he is, and further-
more, they don’t want to know who
he is.”#7 But Smathers made an all-
out effort to make sure that voters in
the distant panhandle would know
“who he is.” The Miami congressman
opened his campaign with a speech
at Monticello on March 4, 1950. He
campaigned throughout the pan-
handle as well as the rest of the state.
Many times he delivered several
speeches a day at various locations.
His campaign efforts also included
huge billboards located at the side of
various highways displaying a mes-
sage which included words in giant
print, “VOTE AMERICAN.” Pepper
matched Smathers’ torrid schedule.

In 1950, just as in 1944, Claude
Pepper had to face the terrific verbal
onslaught from his old enemy, Rob-
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ert H. Gore, publisher of the Fort
Lauderdale Daily News. In fact, Gore
had never let up against Pepper fol-
lowing Pepper’s reelection. In Sep-
tember 1945, just after the end of the
war, a front page editorial in Gore’s
paper said, in part, “Mr. Pepper has
been sojourning in Berlin and is now
on his way to Moscow to find out how
Communism works at its best....” The
editorial went on to say that Pepper
was most pleased when “he is throw-
ing away the taxpayers’ hard earned
dollars!” It also charged that Pepper
had predicted with enthusiasm that
the Communist party in France
would probably come out on top in

elections. The editorial concluded
with the words, “That’s all, com-
rades.”8

A May 28, 1946 editorial pre-

dicted Pepper’s political demise. That
year a railroad strike greatly annoyed
most Americans, and President
Truman urged strong measures to
curb it. Pepper came out with a pow-
erful defense of the unions, the strike,
and the strikers. In reply, Gore de-
livered an editorial blast, referring to
“Pepper’s swan song” and strongly
urging that Pepper be expelled from
the United States Senate.*®

In 1950, after both Pepper and
Smathers had announced their re-
spective candidacies, Gore’s paper
continued its attack on Pepper. The
following January 18 editorial was
typical:

JUST LIP SERVICE

The announcement by
Senator Pepper that he will

conduct his campaign for
reelection...on the basis of his
record of faithful loyalty to both
Mr. Roosevelt and Mr. Truman is
indicative of the faith Senator
Pepper places in the short
memories of voters.

The senator apparently
thinks the people have forgotten
the pre-campaign days of 1948,
and the part Pepper played in
trying to shelve President
Truman. Shortly before the
Democratic national convention

. Pepper called a news
conference at which he was
quoted as suggesting that the
Democrats discard President
Truman and draft General
Eisenhower. Furthermore, Mr.
Pepper proposed that Eisenhower
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should be allowed to name his
own vice-presidential candidate
and write his own platform. To
make the situation complete
Pepper then went on to state that
Eisenhower should be granted
unconditional powers as
President and be given full and
unwavering support of both
Democrats and Republicans.
This dictatorial policy
shocked reporters and drew an
uncompromising refusal frem
General Eisenhower. Rebuffed,
but not abashed, Pepper then
sought to knife President Truman
in the back again with the
declaration that he himself would
not be averse to accepting the
Demaocratic nomination . . .5

The newspaper, which had
strongly supported candidates favor-
ing the Townsend Plan a decade ear-
lier, went on to question Pepper’s sin-
cerity in his continued support of the
plan:

There are any number of
pension plans that might be
superior to the government’s
rotten and inefficient social
security system, but the
Townsend Plan isn’t one of them.
Pepper knows that, and he knows
too, that the Townsend Plan
hasnt a ghost of a chance to be
even seriously considered by
Congress.

Yet he deludes old people into
false hope . . . of aid and help.
He will remember those promises
only so long as he needs to go out
looking for votes. Then they will
be like his professed loyalty to
President Truman. Lip service
and nothing more.5!

Not surprisingly, immediately
after George Smathers announced
his candidacy, Gore declared his com-
plete and unqualified support for the
Miami congressman. The following
editorial appeared in the Fort Lau-
derdale Daily News on January 13:

WELCOME MR. SMATHERS

The Daily News applauds the
entry of Rep. George Smathers
into the political arena in
opposition to Sen. Claude Pepper.

Those who perhaps feared

that Smathers would adopt a
middle-of-the-road stand in his
campaign platform can now put
those fears aside for Smathers
was anything but a middle-of-
the-roader in the opening
broadside he fired last night....

‘In the next few months the
entire trend of national events
can be decided here in Florida,
where the leader of the radicals
and extremists is now on trial.
Arrayed against him will be loyal
Americans who believe in free
enterprise, who want to preserve
their right to think, to work, and
to worship as they please.
Standing against us will be
certain Northern labor bosses, all
the Communists, all the
Socialists, all the radicals and
fellow travelers. These enemies
of the American way of life are
pouring hundreds of thousands
of dollars into this, their supreme
effort ...

The Daily News sides with
Smathers in his summary of the
importance of the coming
campaign. We join with him in
the belief that it is time that the
citizens of Florida throw off the
Pepper yoke and take a firm
stand alongside the battlers for
real democracy instead of the
phony welfare state that is now
being crammed down our throats

It is well that both Sen.
Pepper and Rep. Smathers enter
this battle bearing the emblem of
the Democratic party. The one
stands for the radical element
which has won control of the
once-proud party and sent it
careening down the road to
socialism. The other stands for
something entirely different. He
would like to see social progress,
too, but he doesnt want
radicalism, socialism or
communism parading in this
country under the guise of
democracy . . %?

In another editorial, Gore’s pa-
per warned Floridians not to be com-
placent concerning the senatorial
election. The editorial said in part:

The Pepper forces are well-

heeled financially. They have the
same support the labor unions
are throwing into the fight in
Ohio. Many thousands of dollars
will come into this state in the
next few weeks for the express
purpose of keeping Claude Pepper
in the saddle.

It has frequently been
rumored that the Smathers
campaign has the backing of the
duPont interests and therefore
has no financial troubles. We
doubt that rumor. We think it is
a plant for the simple reason that
if duPont money was behind
Smathers his campaign would
have been well underway long
before this and on a full statewide
basis . . .

If these are the facts, then it
seems to us that Smathers’
supporters had better wake up. If
they hope to give Senator Pepper
a real battle, they are going to
have to fight fire with fire and
raise funds to maich the Pepper
resources . . .5

The following day, the Daily

News continued its assault on the em-
battled senator with a fierce editorial
which said in part:

THE DOCTOR JEKYLL AND
MR. HYDE OF
FLORIDA POLITICS

Sen. Claude Pepper formally
opened his campaign for
reelection Thursday night at
Miami with the same kind of
bombastic tripe he has used the
last three times he has been called
upon to face the voters.

Pepper apparently believes he
can go on indefinitely fooling
voters with his Dr. Jekyll and Mr.
Hyde act of being an advocate of
socialism up north and a staunch
southern Democrat down here.

It wasn't so long ago that the
senator was hitting all the high
notes in a caustic commentary on
the evils of the Tuft-Hartley labor
law. But Thursday night the
senator was strangely silent on
this point....John L. Lewis,
apparently, has even convinced
Senator Pepper, for the moment
at least, that the Taft-Hartley law
has its points and rather than
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being repealed it should be
strengthened.

The FEPC [Fair Employment
Practices Commission] is another
question which has caused
Pepper to do some rapid back-
flipping. Up to campaign time
there wasn't a stronger advocate
of FEPC and civil rights than
Senator Pepper. He has stood in
the Senate time and again and
blasted away at those who sought
to save the south from this
discriminatory legislation
through the medium of the
filibuster.

But Pepper was all milk and
honey with regard to FEPC
legislation Thursday night. Tam
against a compulsory FEPC,” he
thundered. ‘I believe in freedom
and free enterprise.’

If the senator had wanted to
be strictly truthful he would have
qualified those statements with
the addendum ‘at election time.’
Because that’s the only time we L.
can recall that Senator Pepper Leading Broward County legal and political figures active in the 1950
has found any fault with FEPC Senate campaign included (clockwise from upper left): Sl.nathers cam-
legislation or has supported the paign manager Stephen C. O'Connell, Pepper campaign manager
cause of freedom and free Samuel P. O'Bryan, and Pepper supporters Thomas F. Fleming and
enterprise in this country. George W. English, Jr. (0'Connell and English photos courtesy of Fort

The rest of the time he has Lauderdale Historical Society; O'Bryan photo courtesy of William
been busy running around the M. O'Bryan, Esq.)
nation clamoring for civil rights
legislation, playing up to the
commies and the fellow travelers,
and doing everything in his
power to get rid of free enterprise.

Now he represents himself as
a changed man. Now he casts
aside his Dr. Jekyll clothes and
dons the garments of Mr. Hyde.
Now he hopes to lull the voters
into believing once again he is a
true and loyal son of the south
and an indispensable Florida
asset in the U.S. Senate....

There comes a time in the
careers of all politicians when
past deeds rise to haunt them.
Pepper is running fast and hard
to keep ahead of his past, but it
is catching up with him, and we
believe the senator will need more
than the double talk and evasion
he peddled at Miami Thursday
to sell himself to the voters this
trip.#
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Both the Pepper and Smathers
supporters organized their respective
Broward County campaigns. Fort
Lauderdale attorney Samuel P.
O’Bryan was designated chairman of
Pepper’s campaign committee. The
newly designated chairman was the
Jjunior partner of Pepper’s law school
classmate and longtime political sup-
porter, George W. English, Jr. The
Smathers forces selected Fort Lau-
derdale attorney Stephen C.
O’Connell, the brother of Phillip D.
O’Connell, the longtime state attor-
ney for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit.

Claude Pepper, for all his repu-
tation as a “left winger” and a favor-
ite of liberal and radical groups
throughout the country, received
plenty of “non-radical” support in
Florida. For example, Pepper’s lead-
ing and most influential Broward
supporter, George W. English, Jr.,
was not considered a great “liberal.”
With his connections to the Broward
legal, banking, and real estate hier-
archy, English was certainly part of
the county’s business establishment.
Another leading Broward supporter
of the embattled senator, Fort Lau-
derdale attorney Thomas F. Fleming,
was also closely connected with the
local business and banking establish-
ment.5®

As both Claude Pepper and
George Smathers barnstormed
throughout the state during the
spring, Pepper referred to Smathers
as an “old friend returned from the
Pacific,” and charged that his oppo-
sition was made up of “the big money
interests, the big corporations, and
the big newspapers in Florida.”
Smathers, playing the race issue to
the hilt, criticized Pepper’s stand on
the Fair Employment Practices Com-
mission (FEPC) as “selling out” the
South’s interests. Pepper rejected
that position when he told his listen-
ers, “I was born in Alabama. I come
from more than 200 years of south-
ern ancestry, and no New Jersey-born
DuPont lawyer from Sunset Isle Mi-
ami Beach needs to tell me what the
South wants.”®

Smathers also criticized the
senator’s stand on Communism and
U.S. foreign policy, often striking at
positions Pepper himself had aban-
doned. He declared that American

foreign policy would not be settled in
Washington, “but here in Florida
where we are given our last chance
to eliminate from government the
idol of the fellow travelers and par-
lor pinks.” He went so far as to state
that the principles Pepper espoused
would mean the final destruction of
freedom.””

Claude Pepper and George
Smathers continued their verbal
slugfest throughout Florida. In a
West Palm Beach speech, Pepper de-
nounced Communism as an odious
doctrine, while Smathers pounded
away in his swing through west
Florida at Pepper’s friendship with
Henry Wallace and Negro singer Paul
Robeson. Pepper, angered over the
pro-Communist label, shouted to his
West Palm Beach audience, “I am
fighting Communism through voting
for the Marshall plan, arms for Eu-
rope, and working for better medical
care, broader social security protec-
tion, and other advantages.”
Smathers told his west Florida audi-
ences that his friendship with Pep-
per had begun to cool when he re-
turned to the United States in 1945
from overseas duty with the Marines
and found the senator speaking at
rallies with Wallace and Robeson.
The Miami congressman added,
“Throughout the next four years, he
drifted with the ‘Red tide’ toward
Russia.”

In the meantime, the Fort Lau-
derdale Daily News continued its ver-
bal onslaught against the senator
with another editorial:

PEPPER SOUNDS LIKE A
BEATEN MAN

election . . .

We’d like to see Senator
Pepper try that. We dont know
where he would get the funds for
such an enterprise unless he
tapped the RFC [Reconstruction
Finance Corporation], Henry
Wallace, Paul Robeson, or some
of his labor supporters, but
granting that he could get the
necessary capital, we think the
senator might learn a few things.

He might find, for instance,
that he has less friends than he
thinks he has, and that it takes
more than talk to put out a
newspaper the public will
support. The American public
may elect leftist sympathizers
once in a while, but this same
public is notoriously reluctant to
support leftist newspapers . . .

Claude’s on the defensive
now. He is beginning to realize
that the time could be drawing
nigh when the people of Florida
will cut him off the public payroll.
That’s probably why he qualified
his reported threat last
Wednesday with an if, as and
when he was reelected. That
gives the senator an out. It
should also provide solace to
Publisher Andersen if he fears
competition from Pepper.
Because we don’t think Senator
Pepper is going to enter the
newspaper business in Orlando.
He sounds too much like o beaten
man already when he goes
around threatening newspuper
publishers because he doesn’t like
what they are saying about him.%

In Orlando last Wednesday
night, Sen. Claude Pepper
reportedly made a threat that if,
as, and when he was reelected he
was coming back to that city to
start his own newspaper and run
Martin Andersen and his
Orlando Sentinel out of town.

Senator Pepper is rather
piqued at Publisher Andersen
because the Orlando
newspaperman, who formerly
was one of Pepper’s most ardent
supporters, has now gone over to
the other side of the fence and is
bitterly opposed to Pepper’s re-

While Pepper and Smathers
were trading verbal blows, Miami at-
torney John Booth, the Republican
candidate for senator, visited
Broward County and indicated that
he did not think much of either
Democratic candidate. Booth de-
scribed their campaigns as both comic
and tragic. The comic side, he said,
was that, “If there is anything left of
the two aspirants it will be a pretty
bedraggled object. The tragedy of it
is that they are both tearing down
the dignity of the office they seek.”
The Republican candidate then read
a letter from Senator Robert A. Taft
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Bring Prosperity to Florida
JOIN AND SUPPORT

Florida’s Fastest Growing Industry

CANNING PEPPER

Anti-Pepper campaign card.
The words "Canning Pepper" were in red,
perhaps an allusion to the "Red Pepper'' accusations.

of Ohio, in which the national Repub-
lican leader denied all rumors that
he was lending support to
Smathers.*

As both candidates continued
their vigorous schedules across the
state, Smathers seemed determined
that voters in the panhandle would
“know who he is.” His main oratori-
cal thrust was to accuse Pepper of
supporting the FEPC and of being in
league with Communists and fellow
travelers. Pepper accused Smathers
of being the DuPont candidate and
of opposing the minimum wage law.
Both candidates accused the other of
purchasing Negro votes.

Broward County Democrats
held a barbecue-rally at the county
airport on March 25. Retiring nine-
term Congressman J. Hardin
Peterson of Lakeland was the main
speaker, but neither Pepper nor
Smathers, because of prior commit-
ments, was able to attend. Local
Congressman Dwight L. Rogers of
Fort Lauderdale, campaigning for
reelection, spoke to the gathering, as
did his opponent, Rev. C. C. Stauffer
of Fort Lauderdale. Samuel P.
O’Bryan spoke for Pepper, and
Stephen C. O’Connell spoke for
Smathers.®

George Smathers made a “tri-
umphal entry” into Broward County

GEORGE SMATHERS

Young George Smathers
brings his senatorial campaign to
Broward county tomorrow and
the citizens of this area will be
given an opportunity to meet the
man who has put Sen. Claude
‘Red’ Pepper on the defensive for
the first time in his long political
career...

No less a figure than Senator

Harry F. Byrd of Virginia said the
other day that the decision the
Florida voters will make next
May will constitute one of the
most important political
decisions of the century. He
pointed out that if Senator Pepper
is returned to the Senate it will
give other leftist sympathizers all
the encouragement they need to
take this nation all the way down
the road to socialism. If Pepper
is defeated, however, it will serve
notice on the radicals in
Washington that the people have
had their fill of socialistic
nonsense and want a return to a
saner and more conservative
form of government.

Senator Byrd wasn’t
speaking idly. His thoughts
echoed the thoughts of other
prominent American figures who
regard the Pepper-Smathers
primary fight as the key battle in
American politics this year.

Senator Pepper knows the
importance of this fight. He is
doing everything in his power to
smear his opponent with a
Republican label and picture him
as the tool of reactionaries . . .

War Memorial Auditorium in the 1950s. At right are A. R. Nininger,
Daily News gave the Miami congress- father of fallen World War II hero Sandy Nininger, and Fort Lauder-

Sriam o warm Welcsine with an edifos dale attorney G. H. Martin, inspecting "Sandy Nininger Drive" at the
Sl auditorium.

on March 30. The Fort Lauderdale
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Smathers has ably answered
every charge Pepper has flung.
He is neither a Republican nor a
reactionary. He’s a Democrat and
a good one, but he doesn’t believe
in the radical type of democracy
as espoused by Pepper.%!

George Smathers spoke to a
crowd of 1,400 persons at the new
War Memorial Auditorium in Fort
Lauderdale. He accused Pepper of
affiliation with Communists and
dummy-front propaganda machines,
and of lauding their corrosive inter-
ests. The Miami congressman said,
“The record of my opponent is on trial
and in the interests of our cherished
democratic principles we cannot, we
will not, ignore that record.”
Smathers denied any DuPont connec-
tions, but charged that Pepper had
argued before the Interstate Com-
merce Commission in behalf of the
second largest railroad in the world,
which, he said, “is owned by J. P.
Morgan.” Smathers also quoted the
Congressional Record to prove
Pepper’s support for the Fair Employ-
ment Practices Commission, which,
during the campaign, Pepper had de-
nied.®

Claude Pepper made a speech
at the War Memorial Auditorium on
April 7. The Pepper forces were de-
termined to put a “non-radical face”
on the embattled senator’s campaign.
Pepper was accompanied on his tour
of the Fort Lauderdale area by his
local campaign manager, Samuel
O’Bryan, as well as local attorneys
George W. English, Jr., T. D. Ellis, Jr.,
and many others. Fort Lauderdale
attorney Thomas F. Fleming, past
president of the Chamber of Com-
merce, introduced Pepper at the au-
ditorium. The senator made an elo-
quent defense of his record and the
New Deal. Speaking before an audi-
ence of 1,300 persons, he lashed back
at his critics, flatly denying that he
had ever favored a compulsory Fair
Employment Practices Commission
and that he had any sympathy what-
soever with Communism. He re-
marked, “Now you keep hearing,
again and again, the frenzied chant,
‘Communism, Communism, Commu-
nism.” You read it daily in the pa-
pers. Who is seeking to throw the

nation into a state of frenzy, of hyste-
ria?” Pepper went on to say that in
the North the Republicans were per-
forming that mischief and that his
opponents were using the same tac-
tics in Florida. He added, “And who
would benefit most if our country
became frenzied, hysterical, dis-
united America? Those men in Mos-
cow, those leaders of that Godless,
ruthless religion of Communism.”%?

The senator defended his trip to
Russia after the war as an attempt
to seek an honorable peace, saying
that he still thought it possible to
work with the Soviet Union. He
quoted from a speech made by his
opponent in Miami Beach in which
Smathers had declared, “We will have
to work with Russia.” “Does that
make him un-American?” Pepper
asked.®

The relentless Fort Lauderdale
Daily News continued its regular at-
tack against the incumbent senator.
An April editorial said in part:

HONEST OPPOSITION

. . . Practically everywhere
Pepper appears, he takes a blast
at the press. Tuesday, over in
Brooksville, it was the national
press and radio commentators
who drew his ire, and he named
Fulton Lewis, Robert
Montgomery and the Saturday
Evening Post as members of the
reactionary brigade opposing his
reelection.

‘Hoovercrats and Repub-
licans’ is the phrase Pepper uses
to describe his opposition. It
matters little whether the records
of his opposition will support the
label or not. Anybody opposed to
the senator is a ‘Hoovercrat or a
Republican’ in his book, and 90
percent of the Florida press
would seem to be lumped into this
category by Pepper.

We don’t know yet whether
The Daily News is going to be put
into this classification or not, but
we assume we won't be ignored
when Pepper appears here Friday
night. We’ve been opposed to the
senator for a good many years
and we haven’t hesitated to say
so in our editorial columns . . .

. . As far as being a
‘Hoovercrat’is concerned we don’t
cower at the label. Maybe The
Daily News is out of tune with
some of this new-fangled
nonsense about what government
should do for the people, and
maybe we’re not, but the fact
remains we rather admire Mr.
Hoover, and we rather like some
of the ideas he has expressed
about government. He wasn’t one
to go tearing about the
countryside stirring up racial
strife. He wasn’t one who believed
in using the public treasury to
buy up votes for himself. He
wasn’t one who believed the
government had a divine right to
interfere in the people’s private
lives and regulate their business
efforts.

But Pepper apparently be-
lieves in this philosophy. He, and
his CIO pals, have stirred up
more racial strife and discord in
this state in the last few months
than we have seen in a long time

The Daily News doesn’t
believe FEPC legislation is
needed in this country . . .That
doesn’t mean we are Republicans
... That term independent means
something to us. It means that
we, like the rest of the people,
reserve the right to make up our
own minds as to what we like and
dislike in the way of government
. . . If Senator Pepper wants to
take issue with us on that score,
well and good . . . We are opposed
to his re-election simply because
we don’t believe in the same
things he does . . . If that
opposition makes us a
‘reactionary, a Hoovercrat or o
Republican’ in Sen. Pepper’s
book, he can call us that if he
wants. But we have a hunch we
aren’t lacking for company and
that come next May, Sen. Pepper
is going to find an awful lot of us
going to the polls.®®

In a news article, the Daily

News carried the “Red Pepper” label
to the limit:
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PEPPER ENDORSED BY REDS

... In a statement issued by
his campaign headquarters at
Tullahassee, Pepper was quoted
as tagging an article in a
Communist newspaper ‘a typical
communist trick of endorsing
those they don’t want to see
elected.’

The Daily Worker in its
southern edition . . . said the
Commaunist party in Florida had
called for the defeat of Rep.
George Smathers of Miami in the
Senate race.

Pepper

Endorsed
By Reds

Senator Labels Article
Communist Trick

VERO BEACH. (—8en. Clau-
de Pepper came here today to
open another week in his cam-
paign for reelection to the United
States Senate.

Also on his schedule as he
moved up the state's east coasl
were stops alL Sebastlan, Mel-
hourne, Eau Gallle, Merritt Is-
land and Cocoa. During the re-
maining weeks of the campaign,
Pepper said he would still refuse
to be led down blind alleys away
from the real issues of this race.”

L ln‘ a statement issued by his

campalgn headquarters 4 at

Tallahassee, Pepper was quoted

as lagging an article in a Com-

munist newspaper “a typical

Communist trick of endorsing

those they don't want to see

elected.

April 10, 1950 Daily News article.

‘Every Floridian knows full
well that if these people really
wanted me to win, the last thing
they would do would be to give
me their open endorsement,’ the
Pepper statement said . . .

George Nelson, Communist
party chairman in Florida, told
the Miami Daily News today
there was ‘no trickery’ in the call
by the party to defeat Rep. George

Smathers.

‘Tt's not trickery . . . we have
something to say and we believe
we should say it.’

Pepper called the article
‘trickery’ and said, ‘anybody with
good sense would know that if the
Communists really wanted to
defeat my opponent or to favor me

they would not say so publicly
66

Claude Pepper certainly had a
point here. An endorsement by the
Communist party for political office
in Florida was certainly the “kiss of
death” in 1950.

As George Smathers continued
to accuse Pepper of “association with
Communist-front organizations and
friendship with Russia,” the em-
battled senator made yet another at-
tempt to clear himself of such
charges. He called upon the United
States to demand an apology from the
Soviet Union as well as indemnities
for families of ten American fliers shot
down over the Baltic Sea.

The Fort Lauderdale Daily
News, apparently irked by Pepper’s
constant references to Smathers as
“a DuPont lawyer,” published another
editorial:

WHO DOES PEPPER THINK HE
IS FOOLING

One of Sen. Claude Pepper’s
favorite phrases in the current
campaign is...to characterize his
opponent George Smathers as
“the duPont lawyer from Miami.”

Claude uses this phrase quite
often when he talks in the smaller
communities throughout the state
and in the back woods areas. It
goes right along with the idea
Claude’s trying to get over that
while he represents the common
man and the little fellow, his
opponent is the tool of big
financial interests.

Now we don’t know whether
George Smathers is a duPont
lawyer or not. As far as Pepper
is concerned we don’t think it
makes any difference, because
when it comes to representing big
financial interests Pepper doesn’t
have to take a back seat to
anybody.

The people of Florida have

more than a nodding
acquaintance with Pepper’s role
in the FEC [Florida East Coast
Railway] reorganization case.
The senior senator took it upon
himself to intervene in this case
on the side of the Atlantic Coast
Line railroad, even though he
knew that the majority of the
people of Florida wanted the FEC
to remain an independent
railroad . . .

The ACL interests can hardly
be termed ‘small peanuts.” The
ACL earned over 18 million
dollars last year. They own, in
addition to their own line, a 35
percent interest in the L & N line,
which in turn owns 72 percent of
the Nashuville, Chattanooga & St.
Louis system. All in all, the
railroad interests of the ACL give
this single outfit control of 16
other railroads . . .

The total resources of the
ACL interests, which Pepper so
volubly and persistently
represented, amount to
something like 384 million
dollars. The total resources of the
duPont banking interests which
Pepper accuses Smathers of
representing add up to 10
millions less than this figure.

So, granting the claim that
Smathers has represented the
duPonts, and this hasn’t been
proved, it means that Smathers
is still second fiddle . . . in
representing big business
interests. And while Pepper’s
efforts for the ACL would have
practically wrecked St. Augustine
and thrown some 1,700 FEC
railroad employees in this state
out of work, Smathers’ efforts in
behalf of the duPonts, if there
were any, haven't been noticeable
that we can see . . .%

With one big editorial blast,
Robert H. Gore hoped to put at rest
the campaign charge that labeled
George Smathers a “DuPont lawyer,”
and at the same time claim that
Claude Pepper, the great champion
of the “common man,” was not above
siding with a large corporation
against the public interest.

Broward pioneer Hamilton M.
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Forman placed a full page political
advertisement in the Fort Lauder-
dale Daily News in which he stated
that, “Senator Pepper may be able to
convince the Florida voters that he
should be returned to the senate in
spite of the fact Russian Communists
have murdered 10 of our American
soldiers over there, and in spite of the
fact that his candidacy has been en-
dorsed by the Communist paper ‘The
Worker,” over here. But, he should
not be allowed to fool the voters into
thinking that he was chiefly respon-
sible for securing the Government
Water Control plan for Central and
South Florida.” Forman then men-
tioned other members of Congress as
well as private individuals that had
played a major part in the effort.5®

The furious 1950 Democratic
senatorial primary campaign pro-
gressed right down to election day.
George Smathers conducted a skill-
ful campaign and made no critical
mistakes. The young congressman
continued to take advantage of the
Communist issue and the race issue,
as well as the general conservative
trend that had settled on Florida
since the end of the Great Depres-
sion. Pepper attacked Smathers as
a “DuPont lawyer” who favored the
wealthy, and stressed his own com-
mitment to the New Deal and to
working people generally.

Robert H. Gore made his last
editorial effort of the campaign with
a front page editorial on May 1:

PERPETUATE YOUR
DEMOCRACY BY VOTING
YOUR CONVICTIONS

Tomorrow the voters of
Broward county will be given an
opportunity to express their
confidence and faith in our
democratic system of government

The main issues in this
election have been made crystal
clear in the last few weeks. The
candidates in the Senate race
have given the voters a clear-cut
choice. The burning question,
which you, as voters, will be
called upon to decide, is not a
question of merely favoring
Claude Pepper or George
Smathers to represent you in the
United States Senate. It goes
much deeper than personalities.
The result will affect not only you,
as a Floridian, but every man,
woman and child in this nation
of ours.

At stake is the issue of which
road our government will travel.
Claude Pepper represents the
radical elements who would turn
America into a socialistic welfare
state. George Smathers
represents the more conservative
elements who see nothing wrong
with the constitutional
democracy set up by our
forefathers, and who would
continue to let this country stand
as one of the few remaining

Landslide Victory
Over Claude Pepper

Unofficial Results Give Youthful Solon Lead
In 45 Of 76 Counties

nations where free men have the
right to live a free life unhindered
by a horde of bureaucratic
government despotlers . . .

Your vote tomorrow will help
to decide this battle. If you want
to be a participant instead of a
spectator in a decision that will
vitally affect the future of
America, you will go to the polls,
and you will see to it that every
one of your family eligible to do
so, also casts a ballot . . .

But remember this. It will be
too late to vote once you lose your
freedoms. It will be too late to
protest once the radicals and
Socialists have taken over this
nation . . %

On May 2, 1950, Senator Claude
Pepper, with fourteen years of service
behind him in the United States Sen-
ate, had his “day of reckoning,” and
suffered a crushing defeat. The vote
was Smathers 387,215 and Pepper
319,754.7 The incumbent senator,
who had carried fifty-four counties in
1944, saw his county total dwindle
to twenty-one in 1950. Claude Pep-
per carried only six counties in pen-
insular Florida: Dade, Monroe,
Glades, DeSoto, Hillsborough, and
Sumter. The remaining fifteen coun-
ties that Pepper carried stretched
from the bend of the Gulf through the
panhandle. Voting patterns indicated
that Pepper’s main support came
from the core of his old rural cracker-
urban labor coalition, but this dwin-
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dling core had been woefully insuffi-
cient to stop the surge of support for
Smathers through most of the state.
Smathers carried forty-six counties,
including every east coast county
north of Dade. The vote in Broward
County was Smathers 13,441, Pep-
per 5,383. No doubt the influence of
the Fort Lauderdale Daily News par-
tially accounted for this lopsided
margin.”

The Fort Lauderdale Daily
News was elated over the defeat of
Robert H. Gore’s old enemy, as indi-
cated by the following editorial:

FLORIDA SHOWS U.S. THE WAY
OUT OF SOCIALISTIC
WILDERNESS

The smashing victory of
young George Smathers over Sen.
Claude  Pepper  Tuesday
demonstrates once again that
when the people of this nation
fully understand the basic issues
of a political campaign, they
cannot be fooled by demagogues
who use a Santa Claus disguise
to perpetuate themselves in office.

The people of Florida
understood the importance of
Tuesday’s senatorial race. They
knew it was a showdown fight
between the forces of radicalism
and the forces of free democracy.
They were not deceived by the
minor issues flung into the
campaign. They resented outside
elements coming into this state in
an obuvious effort to buy an
election victory for Senator
Pepper. They knew the score, and
by their vote they showed clearly
and conclusively that when the
cards are put face up on the table,
they want no truck with those
who would trade the American
way of life for any foreign ‘ism’...

Today George Smathers has
the satisfaction of knowing that
the people of Florida joined with
him in renouncing Claude Pepper
and his socialistic leanings. They
spoke out for democracy in a firm
and uncompromising voice. We
hope that George Smathers keeps
that uppermost in his mind when
he joins Sen. Spessard Holland
in representing the people of this

Reds Hit

Smathers
Victory

Severe Blow Dealt

Says State Chief

TAMPA T —— George Nelson.
chatrman of the Conmumunist party
in Florida. declared today George
Smathers senatorial race victory
“deals A heavy blow at labor. the
negrn people and the peace move-
ment.”

In a statement. he also critieised
Sen. Claude Pepper for the tvpe
cumpaizn he waged for ye-elec-
Lion.

Nelson figured in the news
prominently during the PPepper-
smathers fight by his author-
ship of an article in the Com-
munist  Daily  Worker which
leaned toward Pepper.

May 4, 1950 Daily News article.

state in the United States Senate
next January.”™.

Gore’s paper continued to push
the “Red Pepper” theme even after
the election. A headline in the sec-
ond section of the May 4, 1950 issue
read, “REDS HIT SMATHERS VIC-
TORY.” The paper quoted George
Nelson, Florida Communist party
chairman, as saying that Smathers’
victory was a heavy blow to labor.”

The 1950 Florida Democratic
senatorial primary is probably the
most memorable election campaign
in the state’s history. More than four
decades after the last vote was
counted, some of the basic facts of the
campaign are still disputed. As a re-
sult of the bitter legacy of Pepper’s
defeat, a mythology developed which
soon became part of the folklore of
the campaign. The most widely re-
peated scenario has a Smathers cam-
paign speaker, addressing a crowd of
rural north Florida “rednecks,” make
such statements as, “Are you aware
that Claude Pepper is known all over
Washington as anextrovert? Not only

that, but this man is reliably reported
to practice nepotism with his sister-
in-law, and he has a sister who was
once a thespian in wicked New York.
Worst of all, it is an established fact
that Mr. Pepper, before his marriage,
habitually practiced celibacy.”™

While the above account makes
a good story, there is no proof that
the speech ever took place. The
speaker has never been identified.
The location and date of the speech
has never been revealed. However,
in spite of this lack of proof, that sce-
nario has appeared in print countless
times and is still believed by many
people today.

Leaving the above mentioned
legend aside, why did Claude Pepper
lose? He lost because he was per-
ceived to be on the unpopular side of
two key issues—the race issue and
the Communist issue. Time maga-
zine explained Pepper’s defeat as fol-
lows:

Florida reelected him twice,
and he began to look like a
permanent fixture in the U.S.
Senate. But whatever he was,
Claude Pepper was not
permanent. He skidded with
Henry Wallace away to the far
left. He became an apologist for
Russia’s foreign policy. He went
abroad, called on Stalin,
promptly urged that the U.S.
advance Russia a $6 billion loan.
He proposed that the U.S.
‘destroy every atom bomb we
have’ and all atomic facilities. He
sometimes out-talked even
Wallace in denunciation of the
U.S.’s toughening foreign policy.”

The race issue made Pepper’s
defeat a probability. The addition of
the Communist issue made it a cer-
tainty. The senator took a tremen-
dous battering on both of these issues
from many of the state’s most influ-
ential newspapers. Nowhere was this
more true than in Fort Lauderdale,
where Robert H. Gore made every
election an opportunity to settle old
political and personal scores.

In most discussions of the elec-
tion, however, one fact is overlooked.
Claude Pepper, in spite of his double
handicap, received approximately
forty-five percent of the vote, a con-



siderable portion of the record-break-
ing turnout. Probably less than half
of that percentage agreed with
Pepper’s perceived positions on those
two key issues. This fact indicates
that Pepper had a strong personal
following that went beyond any par-
ticular political issue.

As for the chief personalities in
the dramatic campaign, Robert H.
Gore continued his feuds with public
figures at all levels of government.
His investments in Broward County
real estate multiplied his already
substantial fortune. Gore sold the
Fort Lauderdale Daily News to the
Chicago Tribune interests in 1963,
but remained a powerful figure in
Broward County until his death in
1972.

George Smathers was reelected
to the Senate in 1956 and again in
1962. There he served with distinc-
tion until 1968, when he voluntarily
stepped down to engage in the pri-
vate practice of law.

Claude Pepper, the ultimate
survivor, managed to survive his bit-
ter defeat in 1950 and continued to
be a major player in state and na-
tional politics for another thirty-nine
years. After Pepper was defeated for
the legislature in 1930, he had moved
from Perry to Tallahassee; after his
Senate defeat in 1950, he moved from
Tallahassee to Dade County. In 1958,
Pepper made an unsuccessful at-
tempt to oust Spessard Holland from
the United States Senate. Besides
suffering a statewide defeat, he lost
Broward County for the fourth con-
secutive time. As a result of popula-
tion growth, Dade County received
an additional congressional seat in
1962. Claude Pepper was elected to
the United States House of Represen-
tatives that year and remained in
that office until his death in 1989.
During his long service as a congress-
man from Florida, Pepper won na-
tional acclaim as the “champion of the
elderly.” Atransformation took place
that would have astonished many an
anti-Pepper campaigner of 1950. The
“Red Pepper” of the late 1940s be-
came the militant anti-Communist of
the 1980s. During the last decade of
his life, Claude Pepper was the most
aggressive anti-Communist in

Florida’s congressional delegation.™

Claude Pepper won his first
election in 1928 when he was elected
to the Florida Legislature. He won
his last election in 1988 when he was
reelected to Congress. The title of his
memoirs certainly captures the sixty-
year career of Claude Pepper, who
was truly an “eyewitness to a cen-
tury.”
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Congressman Claude Pepper
in the 1980s.
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AND THE PURCHASE OF THE

A

Many things have been written
about the purchase of one of Broward
County’s landmark areas, the Galt
Ocean Mile, and most of them have
been wrong. In almost every case,
the errors have resulted from lack of
documentation and the faulty memo-
ries of those who often wanted to ap-
pear to be “in the know.” Historians,
relying on pioneer testimony or news-
paper rumors, have picked up these
mistakes and passed them on to
today’s generation. With the open-
ing of the “Model Land Company
Papers” at the University of Miami’s
Richter Library, a more correct,
though certainly not final, interpre-
tation can be offered. Based upon
information gathered from letters
and telegrams found in this impor-

by Joe Knetsch

tant collection, we can state plainly
that the tract of land known as the
“Galt Ocean Mile” was not purchased
in one block; that the land was not
purchased for one dollar per acre;
that most of the initial arrangements
were made through Arthur T. Galt’s
law partner Hugh Taylor Birch; that
most of the first sales took place in
1917 rather than 1911 as has been
alleged; and finally that Galt bought
most of the property sight unseen and
relied heavily on the opinion of Mr.
Birch.

Much of the land purchased by
Mr. Galt, in the first installments of
his growing Florida estate, had been
the property of another pioneer ef-
fort in Broward County, the nine-
teenth century coconut plantation of

E. T. Field and Ezra A. Osborn. The
first mention of “your friend,” Mr.
Galt, in the correspondence between
Hugh Taylor Birch and Frederick
Morse, the agent for several large
land companies operating in south-
east Florida during the opening de-
cades of the twentieth century, ap-
pears in Morse’s March 19, 1917 let-
ter concerning the possible purchase
of land in the old coconut plantation.
The paragraph in which this refer-
ence occurs is worth quoting:

I had a talk with Mr. Field
but could not get the reduction in
price you wanted, but your friend
wants Lot 5 of Section 30-49-43,
containing 36 acres, at $150.00
an acrel.] I think it might be
advisable for him to make a cash

Well known to residents and visitors alike for its
impressive row of highrise, beachfront buildings, the
Galt Ocean Mile has had a long and interesting, if of-
ten misunderstood, history. By researching primary
documents in the Model Land Company papers, Joe
Knetsch corrects many misconceptions about the pur-
chase of the property by Arthur T. Galt, and explains
its connections to such prominent figures as Hugh Tay-

lor Birch, George L. Bradley, Frederick S. Morse, P. A.
Cunningham, E. T. Field, and Ezra A. Osborn.

Dr. Knetsch, a frequent contributor to Broward
Legacy, is a former Broward County Historical Com-
missioner. He is currently Vice-President of the Florida
Historical Society and lives in Tallahassee, where he
serves as historian with the Florida Department of En-
vironmental Protection.
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offer of $150.00 an acre for the
same. Mr. Field now has Lots 1
and 3 of Section 31-49-43 quoted
for $179.00."

So much for the old story of pay-
ing $1.00 per acre, which has often
been claimed for land purchases in
this area. Lots 1 and 3 in Section 31,
and Lot 5 in Section 30 are all prime
beachfront lots containing approxi-
mately eighty acres in all. Field was
probably well aware of the growth of
the area and shared with A. H. Saw-
yer, president of the Boston and
Florida Atlantic Coast Land Com-
pany (the land sales arm of the old
Florida Coast Line Canal and Trans-
portation Company) the idea that
“within a comparatively short time
the rock road may follow the sea
shore clear to Miami Beach and what
appears to be very wild land now may
prove much more valuable.” This
rock road, the precursor of today’s
Highway A-1-A, would be built on
lands along the ridge in the area once
thought to be prime coconut growing
land.

Sawyer’s interests, and they
were many, included lands owned by
the New River Land Trust, the Lake
Worth Land Trust, and the Florida
Coast Line Canal and Transportation
Company, in addition to the Boston
and Florida Atlantic Coast Land
Company (itself one of the many
manifestations of the land companies
formed to sell the lands granted to
the canal company). Sawyer, who
had followed his father as president
of the land company, was a prominent
Boston banker who had also inher-
ited the duties of trustee of the two
aforementioned trusts.

The trusts had been created by
George L. Bradley, the major finan-
cial backer of the canal project, as a
means of sheltering his wealth and
protecting his heirs. Bradley had
organized the New England Tele-
phone Company in 1876 and the Na-

tional Bell Telephone Company the
following year. In 1883, he had be-
come interested in and reorganized
the Mergenthaler Linotype Company,
which added to his rapidly increas-
ing fortune. He soon began invest-
ing his wealth in the Florida Coast

pany, the firm which was construct-

ing the Florida East Coast Canal.

The State of Florida granted alter-

nate sections of swamp and over-

flowed lands along the canal route to

the company as its major incentive

for completing the waterway.

Large tracts of these lands were

in turn given to Bradley in return for
his loans to the company, which ex-

perienced ongoing financial trouble.

This land became the basis for the
two Florida trusts which Bradley set
up for his heirs and which, after his
death, became the Rhode Island Hos-
pital Trust Company.® Sawyer’s han-
dling of the two trusts’ land holdings
relied heavily on the salesmanship of
Frederick Morse, who contacted
Birch about the possibility of selling
the trusts’ lands in the Fort Lauder-
dale vicinity.

In negotiating with Birch,
Morse wrote frequently to Sawyer.
On March 10, 1917, he penned the
following short letter:

A friend of Mr. Hugh Birch
is trying to buy an Ocean Front
place from us and we have quoted
the swamp lands lying between
it and the canal, being the W 1/2
of SW 1/4 of Section 30-49-43,
containing 80 acres, belonging to
the Boston Company, and Lot 8

A-1-A

COMMERCIAL BLVD.

INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY

GALT OCEAN DRivE

OAKLAND PARK BLVD.

//'

A-1-A

Line Canal and Transportation Com-

At left is Florida East Coast Ca-
nal investor George L. Bradley,
and above is a map showing the
location of the Galt purchases.
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Mr. and Mrs. Hugh Taylor Birch
(courtesy of Fort Lauderdale Historical Society).

of Section 25-49-42, containing
19.30 acres, belonging to the New
River Land Trust, at $10.00 an
acre, which, I believe, will be
satisfactory to you.?

Morse had already written to
Birch on February 19, stating, “I can
see no reason why I cannot secure
the land for you lying between this
lot (Number 5, Section 30-49-43) and
New River Sound, which is practi-
cally the route of the canal and con-
tains 99.30 acres at $10.00 an acre
but would have to get Mr. Sawyer to
agree to the price.” Before Birch or
Galt could use such land, however,
some drastic changes would have to
be made, primarily filling and drain-
ing. In the meantime, Galt bought
Lot 8 of Section 25-49-42 from the
New River Land Trust and completed
the acquisition of the West 1/2 of the
Southwest 1/4 of Section 30-49-43
from the Boston Company. The deeds
were to be made toArthur T. Galt and
Ida Cook Galt, his wife, as joint ten-
ants, not as tenants in common, as
an earlier draft of the deed had ap-

parently stated.® With the purchase
of these parcels, much of the south-
ern portion of the “Galt Ocean Mile”
was begun in earnest.

Some of the more technical de-
tails of the title work, most important
for the correct completion of a legal
sale and description of land, quickly
attracted the attention of both Birch
and Galt. One of the first things no-
ticed by the two Chicago attorneys
was the fact that no proof of heirship
had been provided for by the repre-
sentatives of Ezra A. Osborn. How-
ever, Birch was willing to accept the
word of Osborn’s former partner, E.
T. Field, as ample proof until written
evidence could be provided.”

In a letter of March 26, 1917,
addressed to the Broward County Ab-
stract and Title Company, a number
of details were noted by the purchas-
ers, including the fact that a copy of
the patent from the federal govern-
ment to the State of Florida, the very
first link in the chain of title for State
of Florida deeds, was not recorded in
Broward County, thereby making all

subsequent abstracts and titles sus-
pect. They also noted that there was
confusion between the New River
Land Trust and the Lake Worth Land
Trust and that the wrong trust had
been noted in the draft deed for some
of the property. The buyers, quite
properly, questioned the absence of
the will of the late George L. Brad-
ley, which conveyed the property of
the two trusts to the current owners,
and they stated the need for a prop-
erly recorded document to show a
complete transfer of property.?® Al-
though these appear to be minor er-
rors of omission, they were, and are,
important for a proper and legal
transfer of property. Without a clear
chain of title, there would be a
clouded title which would jeopardize
any future sale of the land.

Arthur T. Galt had other major
concerns with the titles to certain
lands he wished to purchase. One of
the most important was obtaining a
copy of the articles of incorporation
of the Boston Company and the Ca-
nal Company. Morse had had Judge
H. F. Atkinson explain to Galt the
powers of corporations under Florida
law because the latter had noted a
number of differences in this regard
between the laws of Illinois and those
of Florida. The firm of Galt, Birch,
and Galt was very familiar with Illi-
nois corporate law, being the repre-
sentatives of the Chicago Tribune and
the Chicago stock yards.® Galt par-
ticularly wished to know the extent
of the right-of-way for the Florida
East Coast Canal and the powers
vested in the company for purposes
of expansion, owning and selling of
property, as well as the ability of the
corporation to hold property in its
own name, a privilege forbidden by
the Illinois law of that day.

To facilitate the sale of lands to
Galt and Birch, Frederick Morse con-
sidered “having a printed abstract
made of the Boston Company lands,”
because, he stated, “nearly all buy-
ers now-a-days want an abstract of
title and the many entries bring the
cost up to some Fifteen Dollars.”® In
anApril 24, 1917 letter to Galt, Morse
assured the prospective buyer that all
the documents he had inquired about
were on the way via Mr. Sawyer’s
office, and that he, Morse, would look
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into the purchase of all of Section 19,
Township 49 South, Range 43 East,
east of the canal, as soon as time per-
mitted. Morse advised Galt of his
intention to look at the land because
the Canal Company held the east half
while the Model Land Company, the
largest and most active of the Flagler
System’s land companies, owned the
west half.’* It must have seemed to
Morse that Mr. Galt was simply full
of questions concerning the owner-
ship of land and a corporation’s pow-
ers to hold, sell, and buy real estate
in Florida.

On April 11, 1917, Galt wrote
Morse that he had received the ab-
stract of the property but immedi-
ately noted that the document
showed no evidence of the ability of
the Canal Company or the Boston
Company to hold, buy, or sell real
estate. He requested that Morse send
Birch a copy of the abstract and deeds
accompanied by a certification by the
title company that the corporations
did indeed have such powers. He also
requested tax receipts for the prop-
erty, or if Morse had paid them, a
simple corporate statement that
taxes had been paid to date.

Galt also informed Morse of his
plan for expansion to the north; es-
sentially, he wished to continue buy-
ing along the beach to the north and
have the canal as his western bound-
ary. He liked to own contiguous prop-
erties. As he stated:

I should be glad to buy all
east of the canal at your price of
$10.00 an acre, being sure to have
the canal as the West border of
the land bought. I know nothing
about the character of the land
& that west of the canal may be
better than that east but I don't
care to have any land that I might
buy separated by the natural
barrier of the water. From the
map, the canal seems to divide
the tract into two 80 acre pieces,
I should be willing to pay $800.00
for that part east of the canal ...”?

This strategy of land purchase
thus put Galt in line to buy property
from another pioneer real estate in-
vestor in Broward County, P. A.
Cunningham. The Cunningham
heirs owned Lots 1 and 2 in Section

Fred’k S. Morse

Real Estate and Fire Insurance

Agents for l.ands of
J FLORIDA EAST COAST RAILWAY CO., BOSTON AND FLORIDA AT
LANTIO COAST LAND CO.,, MODEL LAND CO., PERRINB
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Above is an advertisement from a December 1914 issue of the Miami
Metropolis, showing Frederick Morse's many real estate concerns,
and below is a letter from Hugh Taylor Birch to Morse on behalf of
Galt's interest in acquiring Broward County land (letter courtesy of
University of Miami, Richter Library).
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19, Township 49 South, Range 43
East — Lot 1 being the beachfront
lot and Lot 2 that which bordered the
canal. In his letter of April 11, Galt
informed Morse that his sister had

$2,000.00 for the lots. He was in no
hurry, he informed the agent, be-
cause, “. . . it will be many years be-
foreI can useit at all,” and, he added,
“I don’t want to lay out a large sum

tried to buy these lots earlier, but the
Cunninghams had backed out and
had raised the price, which Galt con-
sidered too high for the locality. He
was, however, now willing to offer

to pay taxes on.”® Galt also let Morse
know that Mr. Birch had complete
faith in him to carry out Galt’s at-
tempted deal on the property, and
authorized Morse to offer $2,000.00
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for the lots, provided he also inform
the Cunningham heirs that they had
offered the same land for $1,200.00
previously. In a final note, Galt also
demonstrated his understanding of
the world situation as it related to his
land purchases: “ . . then, too, with
the war & the uncertainties at hand,
I think the cash might be interest-
ing.”14

The Cunningham lots would
prove to be more difficult to buy than
had been anticipated by Morse and
Birch. Birch, in his Chicago friend’s
interest, encouraged Morse to pursue
the acquisition: “I hope every thing
can be done to please Mr. Galt as he
is very much interested in the loca-
tion and full of enthusiasm for
Florida generally & he has relatives
who may come in when they see the
country.”s

The title search done on the
Cunningham property revealed

something very interesting from a
land acquisition perspective. Al-
though the Cunningham family had
received deeds from the State of
Florida, the state itself had not re-
ceived patents from the United States
for the land in question. The land,
by general description, fit the re-
quirements for patent to the state
under the terms of the Swamp and
Overflowed Lands Act of 1850. Ac-
cording to these terms, fifty percent
or more of the subject property had
to be covered with water, but capable
of being drained and made cultivat-
able. The state had selected the
Cunningham property for inclusion
in a list of lands sent to the General
Land Office in Washington, and the
list had been approved, but the State
of Florida had not yet received the
patent to this land and therefore did
not have clear title, a situation which
would cause probable delays for a
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Letter from Arthur T. Galt to Frederick Morse on the
letterhead of the Galt, Birch & Galt law firm
(courtesy of University of Miami, Richter Library).

third party such asArthur Galt seek-
ing to purchase the property. Recog-
nizing this problem, Morse advised
Galt that he would wait to offer the
$2,000.00 until the patent had been
issued to the State of Florida.®

While the negotiations for the
Cunningham lots proceeded, Arthur
Galt did not let his agent rest idly.
At the same time, Galt was asking
Morse to check with Sawyer in re-
gard to buying Lots 2 and 4 of Sec-
tion 30, Township 49 South, Range
43 East. He also sought to purchase
the East 1/2 of the Northwest 1/4 of
Section 19, Township 49 South,
Range 43 East. In each case, Galt
offered the same price he had paid
for similar land purchased from the
Boston Company, $10.00 per acre.
Again, the watch word for the pur-
chase of these lots, all of which bor-
dered on the East Coast Canal, was
that they must, indeed, reach the
canal, the self-defined western
boundary of Galt’s acquired property.
If the desired tracts did not reach the
canal, Galt authorized Morse to con-
tact the Model Land Company, which
was thought to own the necessary
pieces to carry the tracts to the ca-
nal.”

Even without the clear title to
the property, Galt encouraged Morse
to continue the negotiations for the
Cunningham lots. Of course, he
wanted a clear title to the land once
the purchase was completed, but was
willing to negotiate in the mean-
time.'®* Morse, who had everything
to gain from continued negotiations
for the Cunningham lots, was very
agreeable in pursuing the elusive
deal. ¥ In trying to convince the
Cunningham heirs to sell the land,
Galt authorized Morse to up the ante
a little, to $1,000.00 cash and
$1,250.00 over five years at four per-
cent interest secured by a mortgage
on the property. However, learning
from past experience, Galt warned:

If they are willing to sell
either way, I want you if you can
easily get them to accept in
writing signed by all the heirs,
as they went back on their word
to my sisters & I don't want to
get the money ready for them &
then have them repudiate their
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agreement with me. If it would
require some trouble on your part
to get them all to sign then have
them all sign the deed as soon as

possible & place it in your hands
20

On May 25, 1917, Morse in-
formed Mrs. E. J. Solary of Jackson-
ville, the principal heir, that Galt had
renewed his offer of $2,000.00 cash
or the installment plan outlined
above. As Morse detailed the pro-
posal to Mrs. Solary, “From this offer
you would have to deduct 10% com-
mission to us for making the sale,
making it net you $1800.00 for the
cash sale and $2025.00 for the time
sale.””! Either way the property was
sold, Mrs. Solary would net more
money than if she had sold earlier to
Galt’s sisters.

Galt had many questions re-
garding the property owned by the
Cunningham heirs, and on June 4,
1917, he sent Morse a long letter de-
tailing the items he wished to have
checked or included in any final sale
documents and recordings. Among
the many documents he wanted to
obtain and have recorded in Broward
County were the affidavits of the
heirs describing the property and
statements declaring that no one else
had any interest in the property. He
also requested a copy of the General
Land Office’s letter of approval for the
list of lands submitted by the State,
copies of the patents from the United
States to the State of Florida, and, of
course, copies of the documents of
sale from the State of Florida to P. A.
Cunningham.? Other requirements
from the heirs, such as letters of pro-
bate, further complicated Morse’s
work. Nevertheless, by the end of
July, the deed from the Cunningham
heirs had been delivered, along with
all of the other documents demanded
by Galt, and the property was offi-
cially in his hands.?

The core of the “Galt Ocean
Mile” was completed with the acqui-
sition of the Cunningham property.
There remained, of course, other
smaller purchases to round out the
final holdings. However, the total
time of the sales which netted Galt
this fabulous property was less than
one year. His purchases largely de-
pended upon the continuous efforts

The rapid and intensive development of the Galt property in the de-
cades following World War II is evident in these views from 1954
(above) and 1968 (below).
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of Frederick Morse and the often on-
site presence of Hugh Taylor Birch.
Galt, as noted above, had not visited
the property and had no actual
knowledge of the land he was buy-
ing. Therefore, he relied upon the
judgement of Birch, his trusted friend
and law partner, to get him the best
of the available land, a job which
Birch performed to near perfection.
The plan Galt had developed for his
ultimate acquisition—all of the land
between the ocean and the East Coast
Canal—was fulfilled precisely.
Arthur T. Galt could be proud of the
manner and speed with which the
sales were consummated and the
land transferred to his name.

r
4

Left to right: James S. Hunt, Arthur T. Galt, and Stephen A. Calder,

pers also show that the land was not
purchased in one block, as is often
assumed, but very piecemeal and
from a number of sources. The names
of the land holders with whom Morse
dealt on Galt’s behalf read like a
“Who’s Who” of early Broward real
estate development. Galt purchased
land from the Florida Atlantic Coast
Land Company, the real estate arm
of the canal company; the Model
Land Company, the largest real es-
tate firm in the Flagler System; P. A.
Cunningham, the Jacksonville attor-
ney/investor who held lands in many
areas of south Florida; and Osborn
and Field, the pioneer growers who
attempted to establish an immense

ca. 1953, the year Galt completed his sale of the Galt Ocean Mile and
adjacent properties to Hunt and Calder's Coral Ridge Properties
(courtesy of Fort Lauderdale Historical Society).

The documents presented here
tell a far different story of the acqui-
sition of the Galt Ocean Mile than
other accounts have shown, espe-
cially regarding the biggest myth of
the purchase — the price of the land.
Not one acre of land appears to have
been bought for less than $10.00 an
acre, and some along the beach were
much more costly. The old story that
Galt purchased the land at one dol-
lar per acre is simply false.?

The Model Land Company pa-

coconut plantation. And all of these
purchases were worked through the
offices of Frederick C. Morse, the
most prolific land salesman in south-
ern Florida at the beginning of the
twentieth century. Morse handled
the transactions of almost the entire
land group of the Flagler System, as
well as the lands of the Florida Coast
Line Canal and Transportation Com-
pany and its spin-offs, notably the
two trusts set up by George L. Brad-
ley.

Other details of the purchase
are also frequently reported incor-
rectly. An example can be found in
an account by the famed newspaper-
man Jack Kofoed, who for many
years wrote for the Miami Herald
and often discussed the history of
Florida in his highly entertaining
columns. When Kofoed wrote that
Galt sold 3,500 acres to Stephen
Calder and James Hunt in 1953, and
that Galt had purchased the land in
1911, he wrongly reported both the
acreage and the date of the original
purchase.®

A final point which needs to be
reiterated here is that Galt had not
visited the property at the time of
purchase, and relied almost totally
upon the sound judgement of Hugh
Taylor Birch. Thus, contrary to many
accounts, he had not visited the land
at the turn of the century while work-
ing on right-of-way purchases for the
Florida East Coast Railway. In fact,
the right-of-way for the Flagler rail-
road had been surveyed in the mid-
1890s and the plat filed with the
Board of Trustees of the Internal
Improvement Trust Fund, which
granted the 200 foot right-of-way plus
alternate sections of swamp and over-
flowed lands. None of this undertak-
ing was negotiated by Galt, Birch, or
any other Chicago attorney. It should
be remembered that Henry Flagler
operated out of New York and that
his Florida offices were in St. Augus-
tine. No evidence to date has sur-
faced linking Galt or Birch to the
Flagler operation as its legal repre-
sentatives. That Mr. Birch knew
Flagler is documented, but there is
no correspondence demonstrating
that Birch worked for Flagler, nor is
there any evidence to show that Galt
worked for the Florida East Coast
Railway or any other Flagler-related
operation. Like the Julia Tuttle or-
ange blossom story, such a connection
makes interesting reading, but is not
based on reality, and Arthur T. Galt
should always be viewed as a realist
when it comes to land dealings. The
Chicago-based law partner of Hugh
Taylor Birch did little to develop his
property, but he held it long enough
to lend his name to it for the foresee-
able future; a lasting tribute to a man
whose main accomplishment in
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Broward County was to consolidate
holdings of beach/canal front lands
just north of the property developed
and later deeded to the state as a park
by his friend.

6.

N0 Notes O

. Frederick S. Morse to Hugh Taylor Birch,

March 19, 1917, Model Land Company Pa-
pers, Box 9, Folder 289, Special Collections,
Richter Library, University of Miami, Mi-
ami, Florida. As this author has notedin a
previous article, this collection, thanks to
William Brown and his fine staff, is well
catalogued and organized for users’ conve-
nience. All letters cited in this article are
from this collection, and subsequent cita-
tions will reference only the correspondents,
date, box, and folder.

A. H. Sawyer to Morse, March 14, 1917, Box
9, Folder 289.

The biographical information comes from
material found in the Gilbert Youngberg Pa-
pers, Special Collections, Rollins College,
Winter Park, Florida. The specific citation
ig from the biographical article in the Na-
tional Cyclopedia of American Biography
(N.D.), 440-41. The information on Mr.
Bradley’s relationship with the canal com-
pany comes from reading material in the A.
P. Sawyer Papers, State Library of Florida,
Special Collections (Dodd Room), Florida
Department of State, Tallahassee, Florida.

. Morse to Sawyer, March 10, 1917, Box 9,

Folder 289.

. Morse to Birch, February 19, 1917, Box 9,

Folder 289. It must be remembered that
these lands were classed as swamp and over-
flowed lands and were, strictly speaking,
mostly mangrove and buttonwood swamp.
Birch filled in much of this area to create
the land for his development and eventual
homesite at Hugh Taylor Birch State Park.
Morse to Sawyer, March 29, 1917, Box 9,
Folder 289.

7. Birch to Morse, June 16, 1917, Box 9, Folder

289.

8. Morse to Broward County Abstract & Title

Company, March 26, 1917, Box 9, Folder 289.

9. Pamela Euston, in her unpublished biogra-

phy of Hugh Taylor Birch, “Big Boss: Life
and Times of Hugh Taylor Birch,” has noted
that the firm was originally founded in 1894
as “Birch and Galt,” and changed the name
to “Galt, Birch and Galt” in 1902 when
Arthur T. Galt joined the firm as a full part-
ner (p. 38). In discussions with the author,
Ms, Euston, who has done extensive re-
search on Birch for her biography, noted
that she has not found any evidence that
the firm ever represented Standard Oil or
any other related firm while Birch was ac-
tive in Chicago. It is even more clear that
the firm did not act as right-of-way agents
for Flagler or the Florida East Coast Rail-
way, as most right-of-way was granted to
the railroad by the Board of Trustees of the
Internal Improvement Trust Fund based
upon surveys of the route completed prior
to either man moving to Florida. Mr. Flagler
had ample legal talent available to him in
St. Augustine in J. R. Parrott, W. W.
Dewhurst and others. The author would
like to express his deep appreciation to Ms.
Euston for the use of her manuscript and
the many informative discussions concern-
ing Mr. Birch,

10. Morse to Birch and Morse to Sawyer, both

April 24, 1917, Box 9, Folder 289.

11. Morse to Galt, April 24, 1917, Box 9, Folder

289.

12. Galt to Morse, April 11, 1917, Box 9, Folder

289.

13.1bid.
14.Ibid.
15. Birch to Morse,April 30, 1917, Box 9, Folder

288.

16. Morse to Galt, May 5, 1917, Box 9, Folder
288.

17. Morse to Sawyer, May 5, 1917, Box 9, Folder
288.

18. Galt to Morse, May 9, 1917, Box 9, Folder
288.

19. Morse to Galt, May 12, 1917, Box 9, Folder
288.

20. Galt to Morse, May 21, 1917, Box 9, Folder
288,

21. Morse to Mrs. Solary, May 25, 1917, Box 9,
Folder 288.

22. Galt to Morse, June 4, 1917, Box 9, Folder
290.

23. Galt to Morse, July 30, 1917, “Copied From
Mr. Galt’s Original Letter Which Is On An-
other Special File,” Box 9, Folder 290. Only
the transcribed version, so labelled, has
been found and used in this instance.

24. John L. Redding, “A History of Broward
County, Florida, For Students In An Edu-
cational Setting,” Fort Lauderdale: Nova
University, Applied Research Project, 1979,
130. Redding cites as his source a Fort Lau-
derdale News article by George DeVault,
“Few Were Immune to the Building Bug’s
Bite,” published on March 13, 1977.
Redding’s depiction of the entire Galt pur-
chase and total holdings is inconsistent with
the facts, including those he uses in his
study. In this particular case, this work
should not be relied upon.

25. Jack Kofoed, The Florida Story (Garden
City, N.Y.: Doubleday & Co., 1960), 278. Be-
cause Kofoed was one of the more notable
and readable journalists who has written on
Florida, his work has had a great impact on
what is perceived as Florida history. In fact,
Kofoed wrote well, but was never a stickler
for accuracy. Still, he is worth the reading
even if not for the facts.
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TBM Avengers lined up at the Fort Lauderdale Naval Air Station, 1945 (courtesy of John Evans).
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